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National Bank of Ethiopia
Annual Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Statement of Director’s Responsibility

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of
National Bank of Ethiopia (“The Bank™), comprising the statement of financial position as at 30 June
2024, statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and the notes to the financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

To enable the Directors, meet those responsibilities, the Board of Directors (the "Board") and
management sets standards and management implements systems of internal control, accounting and
information systems aimed at providing reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, and the risk
of error, fraud or loss is reduced in a cost-effective manner. These controls, contained in established
policies and procedures, include the proper delegation of responsibilities and authorities within a
clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties.

To their best knowledge and belief, based on the above, the Directors are satisfied that no material
breakdown in the operation of the systems of internal control and procedures has occurred during the
year under review. The Directors have reviewed the performance and financial position of the Bank to
the date of signing of these financial statements and its prospects based on prepared budgets and are
satisfied that the Bank is a going concern and, therefore, have adopted the going concern assumption in
the preparation of these financial statements.

Approval of the annual financial statements

The financial statements on pages 9 to 117 were approved by the Governor on behalf of the Board of
Directors on 12 June 2025.

Signed on behalf of the Directors

Mamo Esmelealem Mihrety
Governor
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE NATIONAL BANK OF FTHIOPIA

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Audit Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The National Bank of Ethiopia, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, and the related statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Bank as at 30 June 2024, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard
(IFRSs) and the requirement of the Pronouncements on the application of International
Accounting Standards (IAS 29), Financial reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies in Ethiopia
by the Accounting and Auditing Board of Ethiopia.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in
accordance with the requirements of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(IESBA), International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (IESBA code) and other independence requirements applicable to
performing audits of financial statements in Ethiopia. We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and other ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of financial statements in Ethiopia. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the
matters described below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Partners: Mr Melaku Abeje, Mr Seid Abdela and Mr Efrem Tsegaye www.msecertifiedaccountants.com



Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

1. Impairment of financial assets
As discussed under

Note 9 of the financial

statements, the National Bank of Ethiopia extends

various loans

government banks, and the

to private commercial

Government

Ethiopia, summarized as follows:

banks,

of

Loan to government banks

134,953,595,130

Loans to private commercial
banks

13,210,129,051

Due from Government of
Ethiopia

687,897,177,830

836,060,902,011

The Bank conducted an impairment assessment of
these assets as of 30 June 2024, and 30 June 2023.
A provision of Birr 5,456,148,892 has been
recognized for these balances, reflecting an
increase from Birr 4,768,090,699 in 2023, which
corresponds to a rise of 14.4%. This provision
represents 0.65% of the total outstanding amount.

Given the absence of credit ratings for both private

commercial banks and government banks, along

with the substantial amount due from the

Government, we identified the assessment of

impairments for these assets as a key audit matter

due to the significant judgments applied by
management.

Key areas of significant judgment within the

Expected Credit Loss (ECL) process included:

» Assessing the expected cash flows associated
with these instruments.

¢ Evaluating whether an appropriate discount
rate was used to calculate the ECL for these
assets.

e Assessing whether there was an elevated credit
risk linked to other issued instruments and
evaluating the appropriateness of the staging
classification based on the Significant Increase
in Credit Risk assessment.

» Evaluating the validity of the references used
to establish the relevant rates for loss given
default and the probability of default for these
instruments.

The accounting policies, critical estimates and

judgments, and impairment allowance are outlined

in Notes 3(b), 9, and 28 (a) of the financial
statements.

We conducted the following procedures on
the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) for these
financial instruments:

We assessed the design and tested the
implementation of key controls related to
the calculation of impairment losses.

We observed that the initial financial
model was developed by third-party
IFRS experts with the requisite
experience. Subsequently, this model has
been adapted by internal resources for the
current reporting period, taking into
account relevant factors that may impact
its accuracy and reliability.

In evaluating the control design, we
examined its suitability considering the
nature and significance of the risk, the
competence and authority of the
individuals executing the control, and the
frequency and consistency of its
application.

We verified the completeness of these
financial assets by obtaining
confirmations and reconciling the
carrying amounts of each asset category
to ensure that all related exposures were
thoroughly evaluated for impairment.

We consulted with our internal IFRS
specialists to scrutinize the
appropriateness of the discount rate used
for calculating the present value of cash
flows for the assets, confirming that the
rate was suitable.

We questioned management regarding
the appropriate staging and the
determination of suitable Loss Given
Default (LGD) and Probability of Default
(PD) for each asset category.

We consider that the assumptions made
by management are reasonable.

We also reviewed the disclosures to
confirm that they complied with IFRS 9
requirements.

Based on the procedures conducted, we
concluded that the judgments made by the
Bank are reasonable and that the related
disclosures are appropriate.
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implementation of key controls related to
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model was developed by third-party
IFRS experts with the requisite
experience. Subsequently, this model has
been adapted by internal resources for
the current reporting period, taking into
account relevant factors that may impact
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nature and significance of the risk, the
competence and authority of the
individuals executing the control, and the
frequency and consistency of its
application.

We verified the completeness of these
financial assets by obtaining
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carrying amounts of each asset category
to ensure that all related exposures were
thoroughly evaluated for impairment.

We consulted with our internal IFRS
specialists to scrutinize the
appropriateness of the discount rate used
for calculating the present value of cash
flows for the assets, confirming that the
rate was suitable.

We questioned management regarding
the appropriate staging and the
determination of suitable Loss Given
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Default (PD) for each asset category.

We consider that the assumptions made
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confirm that they complied with IFRS 9
requirements.
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2. Going concern assessment and operating losses

As discussed in Note 2(a), the National Bank of
Ethiopia incurred an operating loss of Birr 10.5
billion and a net loss from operations totalling Birr
9.7 billion for the year. This has led to a negative
equity balance of Birr 5.1 billion. In response, the
board of directors has resolved to transfer the
outstanding dividend payable to the Ministry of
Finance from the previous period into the general
reserve. This transfer has effectively diminished
the deficit in the general reserve, resulting in a
surplus in the equity balance.

The operating losses were primarily due to:

- Impairment losses on government and
government bank-related securities and loans
and advances which amounts to 0.7 billion
Birr,

- Write-downs of gold commodities to net
realizable value (NRV) which amounts to 6.9
billion Birr and

- Exchange losses as a result of depreciation of
the local currency and other foreign currency
related transactions which amounts to 38.1
billion Birr.

The assessment of the bank's going concern status,
along with the current period's operating loss, is

considered a key audit matter due to the significant
risks it presents, affecting:

o The Bank's ability to meet its operational and
debt obligations as they become due.

e The Bank's capacity to fulfil its policy
mandates, including maintaining stable rate of
price and exchange, to foster a healthy financial
system and to undertake such other related
activities as are conducive to rapid economic
development of Ethiopia.

e The Bank's ability to continue operating as a
going concern.

This situation necessitates careful evaluation and
monitoring to address the going concern issues and
results of its operation.

The National Bank of Ethiopia operates to
achieve its policy mandates, which include
maintaining price and financial stability.
Therefore, the effectiveness of its
interventions is evaluated based on their
success in meeting these mandates. To assess
the impact of the current period operating
losses and the negative general reserve
balance on the Bank's operations, we
undertook the following procedures:

» We engaged with management and those
charged with governance to discuss their
assessment of the going concern status,
as well as their strategies to address the
underlying causes of the operating losses
and potential remedial actions to manage
the negative general reserve position.

» We reviewed the decision made by the
board of directors to rectify the negative
equity position by transferring the
dividend payable balance to the general
reserve.

¢ We reviewed various policy reforms and
interventions initiated by the Board
aimed at enhancing the Bank's operations
and strengthening the equity position to
mitigate loss exposures from these
interventions.

o We analysed the effects of various policy
reforms implemented after the year-end,
including the newly enacted
proclamation which increases the bank
capital and its implications for the Bank's
equity and liquidity.

e We assessed the impact of the Domestic
Gold Purchase Program on the Bank's
equity and reserve.

o We further examined the associated
disclosures.

Based on the procedures performed, we

concluded that the judgments made and the

response strategies adopted by the Bank to
address the going concern issue and resolve
the underlying causes of the operating loss,
as well as the resulting negative general
reserve, are reasonable. Additionally, the
related disclosures were deemed appropriate.
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Foreign exchange risk and currency conversion
losses

As disclosed in Note 8(b), the National Bank of
Ethiopia incurred a net foreign exchange losses
amounting to ETB 38.1 Billion for the year ended
30 June 2024 (ETB 12.2 Billion in 2023). These
losses are primarily attributable to the on-going
devaluation of the Ethiopian Birr, and the Bank’s
high exposure to foreign currency-denominated
assets and liabilities, including obligations to
international financial institutions and foreign
currency reserves.

The Bank operates in a macroeconomic context

characterized by significant exchange rate
volatility, high inflation, and regulatory
interventions affecting foreign currency

accessibility. In addition, the Government has
issued forex regulations to reform the foreign
exchange regime starting from July 2024, which
could introduce further volatility and affect the
Bank’s financial position and results.

The accounting treatment of foreign currency
transactions and balances is governed by IAS 21 —
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, which requires entities to apply appropriate
spot rates at each reporting date and to recognize
exchange differences in profit or loss. Given the
magnitude of the losses, the sensitivity of the
results to currency movements, and the complexity
of the underlying exposures, we determined that
the assessment of foreign exchange losses
constituted a key audit matter.

To address this matter, we designed and
performed audit procedures to evaluate the
accuracy, completeness, and compliance of
the Bank’s accounting for foreign currency
transactions, including:

» Assessing the accounting policies
adopted by the Bank for foreign currency
translation and ensuring consistency with
IAS 21 requirements.

e Recalculating the exchange differences
for a sample of foreign currency balances

(assets and liabilities) to test the
mathematical accuracy and
appropriateness of applied exchange
rates.

» Reviewing year-end conversion rates to
ensure they were based on observable
and reliable sources, and that consistent
methodologies were applied across all
instruments.

o Testing internal controls over the foreign
exchange management process, including
approval mechanisms, and controls over
the recognition of exchange gains or
losses.

o Evaluating post-balance sheet events,
including the policy decision on
exchange rate reform announced by the
Government in July 2024, and assessing
the Bank’s disclosure regarding the
associated uncertainties and potential
financial impact.

We also reviewed the disclosures provided in
the financial statements to ensure they were
transparent, complete, and informative
regarding the nature and sources of foreign
exchange losses. Based on the procedures
performed, we considered that the
accounting treatment and related disclosures
were appropriate, and that the Bank had
adequately presented the impact of foreign
exchange volatility.




4. Classification and valuation of financial

instruments

As presented in Notes 3(b), 9, 10, and 28 of the
financial statements, the Bank holds a significant
portfolio of financial instruments, including
government securities, loans to commercial banks,
investment placements, and deposits. These
instruments are measured at amortized cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI), or fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL) in accordance with IFRS 9 — Financial
Instruments.

The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9
requires an evaluation of both the business model
for managing the instruments and the results of the
SPPI test (Solely Payments of Principal and
Interest). These assessments involve significant
management judgment, particularly for instruments
with non-standard features or where the contractual
terms are complex or perpetual in nature.

In addition, the Bank applies IFRS 13 — Fair Value
Measurement for the determination of fair values.
For certain instruments, especially those falling
into Level 2 (observable inputs other than quoted
prices) or Level 3 (unobservable inputs) of the fair
value hierarchy, the use of valuation techniques
and assumptions becomes critical. These include
discount rate selection, expected cash flow
modelling, and adjustments for liquidity or credit
risk.

Due to the subjectivity, complexity, and materiality
of these judgments, we considered the
classification and  valuation of financial
instruments as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures addressed both the
classification criteria and the fair value
measurement approaches applied by the
Bank:

» We reviewed the Bank’s assessment of its
business models, including internal
documentation, reporting structures, and
evidence supporting whether financial
assets were held to collect, to sell, or
both.

e We evaluated the SPPI test outcomes,

ensuring that the contractual cash flows
of selected instruments represented only
principal and interest. For complex
instruments (e.g., perpetual advances),
we challenged management’s
assumptions and classifications.

o We tested the valuation techniques and

assumptions used for instruments. This
included evaluating the appropriateness
of discount rates, cash flow forecasts, and
liquidity adjustments.

¢ We reconciled fair value disclosures with

supporting schedules and assessed
compliance with IFRS 7 and IFRS 13,
particularly in terms of fair wvalue
hierarchy classification and sensitivity
disclosures.

Based on our work, we found that the
classification decisions were appropriate and
that the valuation methodologies were
applied consistently and aligned with IFRS
requirements.




Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Report of the Directors and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us
after the audit report date. The other information does not include the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the
other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company’s financial
reporting process and ensuring the adequacy of internal controls and risk management.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.




As part of an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a bases for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statement represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. From the matters
communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are, therefore,
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Seid

Addis Ababa
13 June 2025




National Bank of Ethiopia

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Note

Interest income 4 27,997,420,307 22,712,530,273
Interest expense 4 (9,272,965,249) (5,342,833,233)
Net interest income 18,724,455,058 17,369,697,040
Fee and commissions income 5 13,406,174,311 12,109,205,742
Revenue from sale of gold 6 4,978,625,325 14,098,776,971
Other income 7(a) 250,861,069 217,375,911
Net non-interest income 18,635,660,705 26,425,358,624
Net operating income 37,360,115,763 43,795,055,664
Currency costs 8 (a) (1,030,743,077) (3,816,098,288)
General and administration costs 8 (b) (38,629,764,167) (13,221,606,686)
Salaries and related benefits 8 (c) (600,216,540) (513,580,743)
Gold purchase, refinery, and other related costs 8 (d) (6,920,772,961) (15,522,836,443)
Impairment losses on financial assets 8(e),9,15 (691,015,146) (1,663,471,402)
Ol?eratmg surplus/Loss before (un) realised (10,512,396,128) 9,057,462,102
gains / (losses)
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation 25 (b) 50,478,770 (172,418,020)
Fair value gains/(losses) on monetary gold - -
Fair value gains / (losses) on financial assets 7(b) 801,483,553 1,309,320,567
Other comprehensive income 851,962,323 1,136,902,547
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) (9,660,433,805) 10,194,364,649

The notes on pages 13 to 117 are an integral part of these financial statements.




National Bank of Ethiopia

Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)
Assets Note
Balances due from foreign entities - Commercial banks 9 (¢)
Balances due from foreign entities - Central banks 9(d)
Cash - foreign currencies 9 (e)
Funds held with IMF 9(H),18
IMF Quota Subscription 18
Gold commodity 11
Loans to government banks 9 (b)
Loans to private commercial banks 9(g)
Equity Investment 10
Property and equipment 13
Other assets 15
Intangible asset 14
Due from Government of Ethiopia 9 (a)
Right of use asset 16
Total assets
Liabilities
Currency in circulation 21
Deposits due to local financial institutions,
government, and government institutions 17
Due to International Monetary Fund (IMF) 18
Funds due to international financial institutions 19
Due to other institutions 20
Due to the Ministry of Finance 24
Deferred revenue 23(d)
Lease liability 16
Provisions 22
Employee benefits 25
Other liabilities 26
Total Liabilities
Equity
Capital 27 (a)
General reserve 27 (b)
Retained earnings 27 (b)
Fair value reserve 27 (e)
Defined benefit reserve 25 27()
International reserve valuation 27 (c)
Other reserve 27 (g)

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
32,055,598,466 26,546,453,204
47,483,737,622 27,228,439,137

712,631,306 654,953,910
176,870,099 106,243,555
22:557.124,177 21,941,217,675
141,169,916 95,104,815

134,058,854,802
13,209,468,542

137,758,663,898
15,054,294,232

1,130,087,452 913,787,046
2,023,678,015 1,434,863,480
18,264,837,377 18,884,556,376
427,643 1,234,513
683,336,429,771 583,119,662,333
5,634,610 2,747,351
955,156,549,798 833,742,221,525

258,835,844,757

352,308,833,697

255,855,630,180

359,930,191,365

81,338,275,471 90,657,013,578
35,839,398 9,854,742
232,846,343,070 110,269,289,467
. 11,120,875,954

8,392,833 8,878,846
5,893,892 3,090,450
44,465,837 41,419,704
408,533,094 394,772,324
23,367,552,387 955,071,700
949,199,974,436 829,246,088,310
500,000,000 500,000,000
(377,188,338) (985,668,162)
2,397,094,874 1,595,611,321
(68,903,678) (119,382,448)

3,849,198,654
(343,626,150)

3,849,198,654
(343,626,150)

5,956,575,362

4,496,133,215

955,156,549,798

833,742,221,525

The notes on pages 13 to 117 are an integral part of these financial statements.

10




Note

Balance as of 1 July 2022
Total comprehensive
income:

Profit/Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners of
the Bank:

Transfer to / (from) General
reserve

Transfer to MOF

Balance as at 30 June 2023

27 (d)
27 ()

27 (b)
24/27 (d)

Total comprehensive
income:

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

27 (d)
27 (9

Transactions with owners of the
Bank:

Transfer to / (from) Other
reserve

-Transfer to/(from) MOF
Balance as of 30 June 2024

27 (b)
24/27 (d)

The notes on pages 13 to 117 are an integral part of these financial statements.

National Bank of Ethiopia
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

International Defined
General Other reserve Retained benefit Fair value Total
Capital reserve Reserve valuation earnings reserve reserve Equity

500,000,000  (2,797,160,582) (343,626,150) 3,849,198,654 - 53,035,572 286,290,754  1,547,738,248
- - - - 9,057,462,102 - - 9,057,462,102
- - - - - (172,418,020) 1,309,320,567  1,136,902,547
- - - - 9,057,462,102 (172,418,020) 1,309,320,567 10,194,364,649
- 1,811,492,420 - - (1,811,492,420) - - -
= - - - (7,245,969,682) - - (7,245,969,682)

500,000,000 (985,668,162)  (343,626,150)  3,849,198,654 - (119,382,448) 1,595,611,321 4,496,133,215
g - - - (10,512,396,128) - - (10,512,396,128)
2 = & - - 50,478,770 801,483,553 851,962,323
" . p - (10,512,396,128) 50,478,770 801,483,553  (9,660,433,805)

- (10,512,396,128) - - 10,512,396,128 - - -
- 11,120,875,952 - - - - - 11,120,875,952

500,000,000 (377,188,338) (343,626,150)  3,849,198,654 - (68,903,678) 2,397,094,874 5,956,575,362
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2024
(In Ethiopian Birr)

Note
Cash flows from operating activities:
Operating surplus/Loss for the year
Impairment of loans and advances 8(e).9, 15
Depreciation and amortization 13, 14
Net interest income 4
Dividend income 7
Interest paid on lease obligation 16
Loss/ (Gain) on disposal of property, plant, and equipment 13
Loss on inventory write down 11
Losses on currency notes in custody 21
Changes in working capital:
Loans to government banks and commercial banks 9(b,c, g

Other assets 15
Deposits due from foreign entities — central banks and

commercial banks el
Currency in circulation 21
Due to International Monetary Fund (IMF) 18
Due to International financial institutions 19
Due to other institutions 20
Deposits due to local financial institutions, government,

and government institutions 17
Gold commodity 11
Due from Government of Ethiopia 9(a)
Provisions 22
Deferred revenue 23 (d)
Employee benefits 25
Other liabilities 26
Interest income received

Interest expense paid

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Increase of ROU assets 16
Dividends received 7
Increase in equity investment & IMF quota* 10
Acquisition of properties and equipment 13
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Payments on finance lease obligations 16
(Increase)/decrease in lease measurement 16
Remittance of annual profits to the Ministry of Finance 24
Net cash from financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 9 ()
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 9(9)

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
(10,512,396,128) 9,057,462,102
691.015.146 1,663,471,402
102,418,314 94,918,477
(18,724,455,058)  (17,369,697,040)
(35,852,659) (18,430,518)
376,937 140,956
1,294,941 47,310
78,942,028 34,046,877

. 60,261,200
(28,398,656,479) (6,477,779,234)
5,537,874,737 2,734,708,450

617,299,750

(1,786,108,060)
2,980,214,577
(9.336,796,780)
25,984,656
120,725,389,051

(7,621,357,668)
(125,007,129)
(100,602,039,994)
3,046,133
(486,013)
64,239,540
22,412,480,687
27,701,394,719
(7,403,242,024)

1,700,978,832

3,922,562,205
46,104,132,856
5,780,707,324
7,035,388
5,246,854,904

107,061,033,672
2,890,180,172
(206,832,576,315)
5,357,799
(3,160,193)
26,039,382
(1,384,179,355)
28,073,132,486
(5,242,313,670)

24,794229,703  (16,387,285,297)
(4,062,894) (1,305,914)
35,852,659 18,430,518

(30,723,355) (379,880,714)
(690,545,287) (200,824,293)
(€89,478,877) (563,580,403)

(1,333,277) (472,818)
3,759,782 1,305,914

g (1,500,000,000)

2,426,505 (1,499,166,904)
24,107,177,331  (18,450,032,604)
34,762,919,079 53,212,951,683
58,870,096,410 34,762,919,079

*Fair value related adjustments of Equity investment and CVA of IMF quota subscription measured through OCI
has been excluded from the cash flow statement (as per IAS-7 p.43). For detail refE':r (note 10 & 18).

The notes on pages 13 to 117 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Reporting entity

National Bank of Ethiopia (“the Bank™) is the Central Bank of Ethiopia. It was established by Order
No. 30/1963 as an autonomous institution. It is governed by the National Bank of Ethiopia

Establishment (as Amended) Proclamation No. 591/2008 and is wholly owned by the Government
of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia.

Its principal place of business is Addis Ababa.

It operates as the Central Bank of Ethiopia and acts as the banker, fiscal agent and financing advisor
of the Government of Ethiopia and is domiciled in Ethiopia.

Basis of preparation
(a) Going concern

The National Bank of Ethiopia recorded a net operating loss of Birr 10.5 billion for the 2024
financial year. However, following the Board’s decision to strengthen the Bank’s capital position,
the accumulated dividend payable to the Ministry of Finance was transferred to the General
Reserve. As a result, the General Reserve balance improved to a negative Birr 0.4 billion as of 30
June 2024, compared to a negative balance of Birr 1 billion in 2023. The net operating loss of Birr
10.5 billion in 2024 F.Y. was largely due to: (1) an impairment loss on government and government
bank related securities plus loans and advances, 2) gold commodity inventory write down to the
NRYV and (3) a depreciation of the local currency which resulted in exchange losses.

In the view of the Board of Directors and Management, the Bank will continue to operate as a going
concern. A central bank is considered policy solvent when it generates sufficient realized income to
cover the costs associated with monetary policy operations. Given the expectation of more
favorable macroeconomic conditions, driven by ongoing and wide-ranging policy reforms, the
Directors believe there is minimal risk to the Bank’s ability to generate adequate income to sustain
its monetary policy operations.

In addition to the anticipated positive impact of macroeconomic conditions on the Bank’s financial
position, the Management has assessed the impact of the new National Bank of Ethiopia (NBE)
Proclamation No. 1359/2025 on the Bank’s solvency. Based on this assessment, management
believes that the provisions under Article 8 of the Proclamation will significantly enhance the policy
solvency of the central bank.

Article 8, Sub-article 1, establishes the authorized capital of NBE at Birr 20 billion, of which Birr
10 billion is paid-up capital. Furthermore, Article 8, Sub-article 4(a), clearly stipulates that
unrealized gains shall not be distributed but instead maintained in the valuation reserve. In addition,
the General Reserve Fund is required to be equal to 5% of the Bank’s monetary liabilities, and no
profit distribution shall occur until this reserve target is met.

These provisions are expected to strengthen NBE’s capital base, improve loss absorption capacity,
and thereby contribute positively to the Bank’s policy solvency.

Based on the above, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that these measures will support
the Bank’s continued operational efficiency and long-term sustainability.

Thus, the financial statements of the Bank have been prepared under the going-concern assumption.
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

2. Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) Statement of compliance

The accompanying financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and National Bank of Ethiopia Establishment (as Amended)
Proclamation No. 591/2008.

Extension of Pronouncement on the Application of International Accounting standard (IAS

29), Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies, in Ethiopia by Accounting and
Auditing Board of Ethiopia

The Accounting and Auditing Board of Ethiopia is a statutory body established under Ethiopia

Council of Ministers Regulation No. 332/2014 basing the financial reporting
proclamation 847/2014, to regulate the accounting profession as well as for issuing a national
professional accountancy qualification in Ethiopia. As part of its regulatory functions, it issued
Pronouncement No. AABE/002/2025, reaffirming that the evidence and conclusions outlined in
Pronouncement No. AABE/001/2023 remains valid. Specifically, the indicators of a
hyperinflationary economy, as outlined in paragraph 3 of IAS 29 including a cumulative three-
year inflation rate approaching or exceeding 100% are not currently evident in the Ethiopian
economy. The statutory body concluded that, Ethiopia is not operating in a hyperinflationary
economy. The requirements of IAS 29 are therefore deemed not applicable in the recognition,

measurement, presentation, and disclosures in the financial statements for the financial year
ended 30 June 2024.

Accounting standards are applied on the assumption that the value of money (the unit of
measurement) is Constant over time. However, when the rate of inflation is no longer negligible,
a number of issues arise impacting the true and fair nature of the accounts of entities that prepare
their financial statement on historical cost basis. To address such concerns International
Accounting Standards Board has issued IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies. However, IAS 29 does not establish an absolute inflation rate at which an economy
is considered hyperinflationary. Instead, it considers a variety of non-exhaustive factors to
determine the existence of hyperinflation. The indicators stated under paragraph 3 of the
standard include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. The general population prefers to keep its wealth in non-monetary assets or in a
relatively stable foreign currency. Amounts of local currency held are immediately
invested to maintain purchasing power;

b. The general population regards monetary amounts not in terms of the local currency
but in terms of a relatively stable foreign currency. Prices may be quoted in that
currency;

c. Sales and purchases on credit take place at prices that compensate for the expected loss
of purchasing power during the credit period, even if the period is short;

Interest rates, wages, and prices are linked to a price index; and
e. The cumulative inflation rate over three years is approaching, or ex
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2. Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) Statement of compliance (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

whether Ethiopia is hyperinflationary economy or not, the Accounting and Auditing Board of
Ethiopia has concluded that Ethiopia is not a hyperinflationary economy for the year 2024,
2025 and beyond, unless new evidence emerges and a new revised pronouncement issued.
Therefore, the requirements of IAS 29 are not applicable for financial reporting for the year
ended 30 June 2024.

On 12 June, 2025, the Governor authorized the issuance of the accompanying financial
statements.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
following significant items:

1. Financial instruments measured at amortised cost and at fair value;
2. Monetary gold measured at fair value; and
3. Measurement of defined benefits obligations: key actuarial assumptions.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Bank operates (the “Functional currency™).

The financial statements are presented in Ethiopian Birr (ETB), which is the Bank’s
functional currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest Birr, except when otherwise
indicated.

Use of judgments and estimates

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of the Bank’s accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

Judgments

Information about judgment made in applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the
following notes:

Note 3 (b (ii)) - Classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within
which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial
assets are Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the principal amount

outstanding;
15



National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

2. Basis of preparation (Continued)

(e)

Use of judgments and estimates (Continued)

Note 3 (b (viii)) - Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for
incorporating forward-looking information into measurement of Expected Credit Losses
(ECL) and selection and approval of models used to measure ECL; and

Note 3 (e) - Leases; whether a contract contains a lease.

Estimates on uncertainties and assumptions

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
estimates are recognized prospectively in the financial statements.

Information on assumptions and uncertainty of estimates posing a significant risk of resulting
in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the year ending
30 June 2024 is included in the following notes as set out below:

Note 3 (b (i; ii)) — identification and measurement of financial instruments;

Note 3 (c) and (d) — useful lives and salvage value of tangible and intangible assets;

Note 3 (k) — measurement of employee benefits liability: key actuarial assumptions;

Note 3 (b) (viii) - impairment of financial instruments: key assumptions used in estimating
recoverable cash flows; and

Note 3 (j) and (t) — recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented
in these financial statements.
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

3. Significant accounting policies

()

(b)

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies on a day to day basis are recorded at the respective buying
and selling rate. The closing balances on these foreign currency accounts at the close of
business are translated using the mid-exchange rate.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
translated into the functional currency at the mid-exchange rate at that date. The foreign
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between the amortized cost in the
functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments

during the year, and the amortized cost in the foreign currency translated at the mid-exchange
rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair
value is determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in profit or loss.
Financial instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

The Bank initially recognizes cash, loans and advances, deposits, and debt securities on the
date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments (including assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss) are initially recognized on the trade date on which the
Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement
a. Financial assets:

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

e Amortised cost;

e Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);

o Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);

o Elected at fair value through other comprehensive income (equities only); or

* Designated at FVTPL
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

a. Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets include both debt and equity instruments. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Bank changes its Business model for
managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the
first day of the first reporting period following the change in the Business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and
is not designated as at FVTPL:
« itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
« its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and
is not designated as at FVTPL.:
»  the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis.

All other financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described
above are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.

Debt instruments, including loans and debt securities, are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

e  Amortised cost;

e  Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);

e  Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); or

e Designated at FVTPL
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

(a.) Financial assets (continued)

Classification of debt instruments is determined based on:

@)

The business model under which the asset is held; and

(i) The contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

Business model assessment

Business model assessment involves determining how financial assets are managed in order to

generate cash flows. The Bank’s business model assessment is based on the following-
categories:

Held to collect: The objective of the business model is to hold assets and collect
contractual cash flows. Any sales of the asset are incidental to the objective of the
model.

Held to collect and for sale: Both collecting contractual cash flows and sales are
integral to achieving the objectives of the business model.

Other business model: The business model is neither held-to-collect nor held-to-
collect and for sale.

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held
at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information
is provided to management. The information considered includes:

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice. In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of
the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s
management;

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets
held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

how managers of the business are compensated — e.g. whether compensation is based
on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales
and its expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales
activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the
Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is _achieved and how cash
flows are realised.
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

a. Financial assets (continued):

Business model assessment (continued)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for

derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Bank’s continuing
recognition of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual
cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessments whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

The contractual cash flow characteristics assessment involves assessing the contractual
features of an instrument to determine if they give rise to cash flows that are consistent with a
basic lending arrangement. Contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they represent cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding (SPPI).

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial
asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money
and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular
period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g., liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest,
the Bank considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether
the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment,
the Bank considers:

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

— leverage features;

— prepayment and extension terms;

— terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
asset arrangements); and

— Features that modify consideration of the time value of money — e.g., periodical reset
of interest rates.
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

a. Financial assets (continued):

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
(continued)

Debt instruments measured at amortized cost

Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost if they are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest. After initial measurement, debt instruments
in this category are carried at amortized cost. Interest income on these instruments is
recognized in interest income using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate
is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset. Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, transaction costs and
fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Impairment on debt instruments measured at amortized cost is calculated using the expected
credit loss approach. Loans and debt securities measured at amortized cost are presented net of
the allowance for credit losses (ACL) in the statement of financial position.

Debt instruments are measured at FVOCI if they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent payments that are solely payments of principal and
interest. Subsequent to initial recognition, unrealized gains and losses on debt instruments
measured at FVOCI are recorded in other comprehensive income (OCI). Upon derecognition,
realized gains and losses are reclassified from OCI and recorded in non-interest income in the
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on an average cost basis. Foreign
exchange gains and losses that relate to the amortized cost of the debt instrument are
recognized in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Premiums, discounts, and related transaction costs are amortized over the expected life of the
instrument to Interest income in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income using the effective interest rate method.




National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

a. Financial assets (continued):
Debt instruments measured at FVOCI (Continued)

Impairment on debt instruments measured at FVOCI is calculated using the expected credit
loss approach. The allowance for credit losses (ACL) on debt instruments measured at FVOCI
does not reduce the carrying amount of the asset in the Statement of Financial Position, which
remains at its fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the
assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI with a corresponding charge to
provision for credit losses in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income. The accumulated allowance recognised in OCI is recycled to the Statement of Profit
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income upon derecognition of the debt instrument.

Debt instruments measured at FVTPL

Debt instruments are measured at FVTPL if assets:

1) Are held for trading purposes;

ii) Are held as part of a portfolio managed on a fair value basis; or

iii) Whose cash flows do not represent payments that are solely payments of principal and
interest.

These instruments are measured at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position, with
transaction costs recognized immediately in the Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income as part of non-interest income. Realized and unrealized gains
and losses are recognized as part of non-interest income in the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income.

Debt instruments designated at FVTPL

Financial assets classified in this category are those that have been designated by the Bank
upon initial recognition, and once designated, the designation is irrevocable. The FVTPL
designation is available only for those financial assets for which a reliable estimate of fair
value can be obtained.

Financial assets are designated at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise. The decision to designate relates to assets
that otherwise meet requirements to be measured at amortised cost or as at FVOCI but are
designated as at FVTPL to reduce account mismatch.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

a. Financial assets (continued):
Debt instruments designated at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets designated at FVTPL are recorded in the Statement of Financial Position at

fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in non-interest income in the Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are classified into one of the following measurement categories:

» Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); or
» Elected at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Equity instruments measured at FVTPL

Equity instruments are measured at FVTPL, unless an election is made to designate them at
FVOCI upon purchase, with transaction costs recognized immediately in the Statement of
Income as part of non-interest income. Subsequent to initial recognition the changes in fair
value are recognized as part of non-interest income in the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income.

Equity instruments measured at FVOCI

At initial recognition, there is an irrevocable option for the Bank to classify non-trading equity
instruments at FVOCI. This election is used for certain equity investments for strategic or
longer-term investment purposes. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis
and is not available to equity instruments that are held for trading purposes.

Gains and losses on these instruments including when derecognized/sold are recorded in OCI
and are not subsequently reclassified to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income. As such, there is no specific impairment requirement.

Dividends received are recorded in other income in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income. Any transaction costs incurred upon purchase of the security are
added to the cost basis of the security and are not reclassified to the Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on sale of the security.

23




National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b)  Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

a. Financial assets (continued):

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period
after the Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets.

b. Financial liabilities

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan
commitments, as measured at amortised cost.

The financial instruments at NBE have been classified into one of the following categories
and their measurement criteria defined as follows based on their nature and business purpose:

Financial assets Measurement criteria
Due from Government of Ethiopia (Note 9(a)) Amortised cost

Loans to government banks (Note 9(b)) Amortised cost

Due from foreign institutions — commercial banks (Note 9 | Amortised cost

(c))

Due from foreign institutions — central banks (Note 9(d)) Amortised cost

Cash - foreign currencies (Nore 9 (e)) Amortised cost

Funds held with IMF (Note 9 (f) Amortised cost

Loans to private commercial banks (Note 9 (g)) Amortised cost

Loans to employees (Note 15 (a)) Amortised cost

Equity Investment and IMF Quota Subscription (Note 10 | Fair value through OCI
&18)

Financial liabilities Measurement criteria
Deposits from banks and government (Note 17) Amortised cost

Due to International Monetary Fund (IMF) (Note 18) Amortised cost

Due to international financial institutions (Note 19) Amortised cost

Due to other institutions (Note 20) Amortised cost
Currency in circulation (Note 21) Fair value

24




3,

National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)
(iii)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset
(or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i)
the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed)

and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or
loss.

Any cumulative gain/loss recognized in OCI in respect of equity investment securities
designated as at FVOCI is not recognized in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities.
Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or
retained by the Bank is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank
continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the
extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

Financial liabilities:

The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged or cancelled or expire. The Bank also derecognizes a financial liability when its
terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in
which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount
extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or loss.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities

)

Financial assets:

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Bank evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired.
In this case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is
recognized at fair value.

If the terms of a financial asset were modified because of financial difficulties of the borrower
and the asset was not derecognized, then impairment of the asset was measured using the pre-
modification interest rate.

Financial liabilities:

The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of
the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on
the modified terms is recognized at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is
recognized in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Bank has a legally enforceable right to offset the

amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for
gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading
activity.

(vi) Amortized cost measurement

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the
financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of
any difference between the initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus any
reduction for impairment.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(vii) Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal
or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date.
The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in
an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the
asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing
information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would
take into account in pricing a transaction.

There is no active market or observable prices to measure the Bank’s financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is
determined at each reporting date for disclosure in the financial statements purposes only.

(viii) Impairment of financial assets

The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are
not measured at FVTPL:

= financial assets that are debt instruments;

* lease receivables;

» financial guarantee contracts issued; and

* Joan commitments issued.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the

following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:

= debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date; and

« other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) or which credit risk has not
increased significantly since their initial recognition.

Loss allowances for lease receivables are always measured at an _amount equal to lifetime
ECL.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial instruments (continued)

(viii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset is
‘impaired” when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the

initial recognition of the asset(s) and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows
of the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably.

The Bank considers a debt security to have low credit risk when their credit risk rating is
equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

12-month ECL is the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

Expected Credit Losses (ECL) is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are
measured as follows:

e financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of
all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive);

» financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between
the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;
e undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the

contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the
cash flows that the Bank expects to receive; and

e financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any
amounts that the Bank expects to recover.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Financial instruments (continued)
(viii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is

replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is

made of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows.

e If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the
expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating
the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.

e If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the
expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing
financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the
cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date
of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the
existing financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost
and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-
impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

e significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

e abreach of contract such as a default or past due event;

e the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not
consider otherwise;

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

e The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually
considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving
contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of
impairment.

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the
Bank considers the following factors:
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial instruments (continued)
(viii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.
The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.
The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through
voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness.

There are also international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support to
NBE as ‘lender of last resort’ to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public
statements, of governments and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an
assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, whether
there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

Presentation of loss allowance in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) are presented in the statement of financial
position as follows:

e financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying
amount of the assets;

e loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;
Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the
Bank cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those
on the drawn component: the Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both

components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying
amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount

of the drawn component is presented as a provision; and

e Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement
of financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value.
However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve.

Write-off

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Bank determines that the borrower
does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still
be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Bank’s procedures for
recovery of amounts due.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(¢) Property and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalized borrowing
costs, less accumulated depreciation, cumulative impairment losses and residual value.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized
as part of that equipment.

If significant parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, then they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment
and are recognized net within operating and administrative expenses in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic
benefits of the expenditure will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their
estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and
is generally recognized in profit or loss. Land is not depreciated.

The estimate useful lives and residual values of significant items of property and equipment
are as follows:

Asset classification Useful life Residual value

Depreciation rate

Buildings 20 years 5% 25%
Furniture and fittings 5 years 20% 1%
Office and other 5 years 20% 1%
equipment

Motor vehicles 5 years 20% 25%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end
and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Intangible assets

(i) Sofiware

Software acquired by the Bank is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any
accumulated impairment losses. Acquired computer software licences are capitalized on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortized on the basis of the expected useful lives.

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. Directly attributable
costs that are capitalized as part of the software product include the software development

employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. All other expenditure is
expensed as incurred.

Software is amortized on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over its estimated useful life,
from the date on which it is available for use. The estimated useful life of software for the
current and comparative periods is 5 years this is amortized at a rate of 20% less the residual
value. The estimated residual value of software for the current period and comparative periods
is nil. Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting
date and adjusted if appropriate.

(e) Leases

(i) Bank acting as a lessee

The Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus

any initial costs incurred. The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-
line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the

right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically
reduced by impairment losses.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate as
the discount rate. The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future leases payments arising from a
change in a rate.

After the commencement date, the Bank measures the right-of-use asset applying a cost
model (cost less any cumulative depreciation and any cumulative impairment). In the case of
the lease liability, the Bank measures it by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments

32




3.

National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Leases (continued)

()

(i)

Bank acting as a lessee (continued)

Made and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications
or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term
leases of equipment that have a lease of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
defined as those below ETB 135,000 (equivalent to USD 5,000 at an exchange rate of USD1
to ETB27, the prevailing mid-rate as at 2016). The Bank recognises the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Bank acting as a lessor — Finance leases

Where the Bank is the lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each of its leases is an
operating or finance lease.

Finance lease

A lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the asset to the lessee, then the arrangement is classified as a finance lease and a

receivable equal to the net investment in the lease is recognized and presented within
receivables.

At the commencement date, the Bank recognizes assets held under a finance lease in its
statement of financial position and presents them as a receivable at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease. After the initial measurement, the Bank recognizes finance income

over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the
lessor’s net investment in the lease.

Operating lease

A lease agreement that does not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of the asset to the lease is classified as an operating lease.

The Bank recognizes lease payments from operating leases as income on either a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis. The Bank applies another systematic basis if that basis is
more representative of the pattern in which benefit from the use of the underlying asset is
diminished.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Taxes

The Bank is exempt from income tax as defined under article 23 of Proclamation No.
591/2008.

(g) Accounting for currency expenses

The cost relating to printing of bank notes and minting of coins are charged to profit or loss in
the period in which the notes and coins are received by the bank from the printing company.

(h) Currency in circulation

Notes and coins in circulation are recorded at fair value. The fair value of notes and coins

approximates their carrying value and represents the nominal value of all bank notes and coins
held by the public and commercial banks.

(i) Inventories

The bank holds gold, office and other consumables as inventory. Included in the office and
other consumables are spare parts, stationery items, fuel and lubricants, tyres and inner tubes
and cleaning and sanitary items. Refer to Note 15(¢c) for the qualitative disclosures.

Gold inventory is initially measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value while office
and other consumables are measured at cost.

Cost of inventories comprises of purchase price (after deducting trade discounts), and related
tax and duty for imports, any costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the stock item
such as transport costs, labour costs, unpacking, temporary warehousing fees and inspection
costs and destination charges in case of imports.

Net realizable value is the price at which the inventory can be realised in the normal course of
business after allowing for costs of realisation. The cost of inventories to the Bank is
determined on a First in First Out (FIFO) basis.

(j) Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably as at the Statement of Financial Position
date, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. Provisions at NBE are
recognized in respect of legal cases and bonus payments to employees as well as to board
members who are not employees of the bank.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k) Employee benefits

(i) Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution
plan. The Bank accounts not only for its legal obligation but also for any constructive
obligation that arise from the Bank’s customary practices. A customary practice in place gives
rise to a constructive obligation where the Bank has no realistic alternatives but to pay
employee benefits.

The Bank’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current
and prior periods. The benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and any
unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted.

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on governmental bonds that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the Bank’s obligations and that are denominated in the same
currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid.

The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. This method takes into account various parameters, specific to the Ethiopia market
such as demographic assumptions, the probability that employees will leave before retirement
age, salary inflation, a discount rate, general inflation rate as well as any other relevant
financial assumptions. The net liability recognized with respect to post-employment benefit
plans is the difference between the present value of the defined-benefit obligation and the fair
value of any plan assets, if any.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past
service by employees is recognized in profit or loss during which the services are rendered.
The annual expenses recognized in the profit or loss statement under “Salaries and employee
benefits” with respect to defined-benefit plans includes the current service cost (the rights
vested by each employee during the period in return for service rendered), the net interests
linked to the effect of discounting the net defined-benefit liability, the past service cost arising
from plan amendments or curtailments, and the effect of any plan settlements.

Remeasurements of the net defined-benefit liability are recognized in other comprehensive
income in the period they arise and are never reclassified to profit or loss. These include: all
actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans.
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(k) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Short-term benefits

Short-term benefit obligations consist of salaries, bonuses, and any non-monetary benefits.
They exclude the following benefits which are expected to be paid over periods exceeding 12
months: funeral expenses; medical expenses for pension employees; prize pay; severance pay
and leave benefits. Short-term benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided.

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonuses if
the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
services provided by the employees, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable in exchange for the termination of an
employee’s contract as a result of either a decision by the Bank to terminate a contract of
employment before legal retirement age, or a decision by an employee to accept voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Some of the termination benefits at NBE include
severance payments.

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Bank can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Bank recognizes costs for a restructuring. If benefits are
not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date, then they are
discounted.

(iv) Long-term benefits

These are benefits, other than short-term benefits, post-employment benefits and termination
benefits. These benefits relate to compensation deferred for more than 12 months, which is
accrued in the financial statements for the period in which it is earned.

The actuarial techniques used are similar to those used for defined benefit post-employment
benefits except that the revaluation items are recognized in the profit or loss and not in equity.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

General reserve

The General reserve is defined in the NBE proclamation No. 591/2008. The balance of this
reserve fund is dependent on the Capital amount. The limit of the General reserve should equal
the Capital account. The proclamation defines that 20% (twenty percent) of net profit shall be
paid each financial year into the General reserve fund until such fund equals the paid-up
capital of the National Bank. The remaining 80% (eighty percent) shall be credited to the
account of the Ministry of Finance (MOF).

Where the General reserve fund equals the paid-up capital of the Bank, the total amount of the
net profit shall be credited each financial year to the account of the Ministry of Finance
(MOF). Net losses of the National Bank shall be debited to the General reserve fund. If at any
time, as a result of net losses sustained by the Bank, the General reserve fund is less than the
paid-up capital, the fund is replenished as per proclamation guidance until it equals the paid-up
capital.

Revenues

Revenue comprises of:
— Interest income (Note 3 (m))
— Revenue from gold (Note 3(n))
— Fee and commission (Note 3(n))

Interest

Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest
method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash payments
or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

o the gross carrying amount of the financial assets; or
o the amortized cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than credit-impaired
assets, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument, but not future credit losses. For credit-impaired financial assets, a credit adjusted
effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including expected credit
losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs, fees and points paid or
received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or
financial liability.
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(n) Interest (continued)

Amortized cost and gross carrying amount

The amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the
financial asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of
any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets,
adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any expected credit loss.

Calculation of interest income and expenses

In calculating interest income and expenses, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortized cost of
the liability.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortized cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the
asset. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk
of the asset improves.

Presentation of interest income and expenses

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI include:

= Interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated
on an effective interest basis;

* Interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI calculated on an effective interest basis;
and

» Interest expense on lease liabilities.

Interest income and expense on all assets and liabilities are considered to be incidental to the

Bank’s trading operations and are presented together with all other changes in the fair value of
assets and liabilities in net trading income.

38




3,

National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Revenues from contracts with customers

Revenue from sale of gold, fee and commission income from contracts with customers is
based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Bank recognizes
revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of
performance obligations in contracts with customers, including significant terms, and the
related revenue recognition policies.

Type of product | Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations,
(good or service) | including significant payment terms

Gold NBE recognizes revenue from gold when the customer receives
right and ownership of the gold. This occurs when a deal is struck
between the Bank and the customer on pricing and the customer
takes possession of the product.

The Bank’s performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the gold is delivered to the customer.

Fee and The Bank provides foreign currency transactions services to banks,
commission government and government agencies in Ethiopia. It also provide
income services relating to selling gold, issuance of bonds and treasury bills

on behalf of the government.

Transaction based fees are charged to the customer when the
transaction takes place. The Bank’s performance obligations are
satisfied at a point in time.

(p) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established. Usually, this is
the ex-dividend date for quoted equity securities. Dividends are presented in net trading
income, net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPTL) or other revenue based on the underlying classification of the equity investment.

(q) Due from Government of Ethiopia

Balances due from the Government of Ethiopia arise from the following transactions:

— Direct advances bearing interest at 3% per annum, issued with no maturity date;

— Bonds bearing interest at the rate of 2% per annum which mature on 03 October 2044 and

08 October 2047; and

— Non-interest bearing bond that is expected to mature in 2034.
Other than non-interest-bearing bonds which are measured at fair value by discounting them
using a market related interest rate, all other balances due from the Government of Ethiopia
are measured at amortized cost.
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(r) Funds held at/due to International Monetary Fund (IMF)

(s)

Ethiopia has been a member of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) since 1945. The Bank
acts as the fiscal agent that conducts the financial transaction with the IMF and designated as
the depository for IMF’s currency holdings. IMF currency holdings are held in the form of
either promissory notes which are payable on demand or in the No. 1 and No. 2 Accounts,
which are deposit accounts of the IMF with the Bank.

Borrowings from and repayments to the IMF are denominated in Special Drawing Rights
(SDRs). The SDR balances in the two IMF accounts (No. 1 and No. 2) are translated into Birr
at the prevailing exchange rates as at 30 April of each year and any unrealized gains or losses
resulting thereof are accounted for in accordance with accounting policy on foreign currencies.

Gold

NBE is mandated by the Government to buy gold deposits locally and sell the same in
international markets. NBE works in conjunction with the Ministry of Mines and Ethiopian
Geology survey to undertake gold purchase activities. The Ministry is responsible for
verifying purity of gold purchased by the Bank. NBE recognizes three types of gold
transactions which are: gold commodity; gold in transit and monetary gold.

Gold commodity comprises of raw gold or gold bullion which is sourced locally before it is
refined and sold abroad. Gold commodity not sold at year end is considered as inventory and
is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Gold in transit refers to gold that is held by the refineries or is in transit to refineries before it
is processed to gold bullion. It is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Monetary gold refers to gold that is held in foreign financial institutions to enable the bank to

build an international reserve. NBE invests a maximum of 8,000 ounces of gold in the form of
time deposits at Commerz Bank.

In the absence of an accounting standard that specifically applies to accounting for transaction
relating to monetary gold, NBE chose to apply IAS 8:10 and 11 (Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors) and guidance issued by World Gold Council on
how to account for gold by monetary authorities. This guidance was prepared with reference to
the conceptual framework of current financial reporting standards and uses similar
terminology as far as possible.

NBE measures monetary gold at fair value with gains and losses being recognized in statement
of other comprehensive income (OCI).
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(t) Contingencies

The Bank, discloses by way of a note, a contingent liability when a condition or circumstance
at the end of the reporting period of which the eventual result, either beneficial or prejudicial,

can only be confirmed upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events which are beyond the control of the Bank.

(u) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in
presentation in the current year.

(v) New Standards, amendments and interpretations

(i) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective during
the period ended 30 June 2024

A number of new standards, amendments to standard and interpretations are not yet effective for
the period ended 30 June 2024 and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.
These are summarized as follows:

Standards / Interpretations Effective for annual
| periods beginning on or
after

- Classification of liabilities as current or non-current and non- current 1 July 2024

with covenant (IAS 1 amendment)

- Lease liability in a sale and leaseback (IFRS 16 amendment) 1 July 2024

- Disclosure: Supplier Finance Arrangements (IAS 7 and IFRS 7 1 July 2024

amendment)

- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate | Deferred indefinitely

or Joint Venture (IFRS 10 and IAS 28 amendment) by amendments made
in December 2015

There were no new or revised standards and interpretations that became effective and implemented
by the bank during the year. Of the standards listed above, IFRS 16 (lease liability) and Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor & its Associate or Joint Venture (IFRS 10 and IAS 28
amendment) are not applicable to the bank and will therefore have no impact on future financial
statements.

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current and non-current with covenant
(Amendments to IAS 1)

Under existing IAS 1 requirements, companies classify a liability as current when they do not have
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the end of
the reporting period. As part of its amendments, the Board has removed the requirement for a right
to be unconditional and instead, now requires that a right to defer settlement must have substance
and exist at the end of the reporting period.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(v) New Standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)

(i) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective during the
period ended 30 June 2023 (continued)

There is limited guidance on how to determine whether a right has substance and the assessment
may require management to exercise interpretive judgement.

The existing requirement to ignore management’s intentions or expectations for settling a liability
when determining its classification is unchanged.

The amendments are to be applied retrospectively from the effective date.

The Bank will make an assessment of the impact of this adoption.

Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 & IFRS 7)

The amendments specify disclosure requirements to enhance the current requirements, which are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The amendments clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements. In these arrangements,
one or more finance providers pay amounts an entity owes to its suppliers.

The amendments require an entity to provide information about the impact of supplier finance
arrangements on liabilities and cash flows, including terms and conditions of those arrangements,
quantitative information on liabilities related to those arrangements as at the beginning and end of
the reporting period and the type and effect of non-cash changes in the carrying amounts of those
arrangements. The Bank will make an assessment of the impact of this adoption.

Early adoption of standards

The Bank has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued
but are not yet effective.
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Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method and

are analyzed as follows:

For year ended

Interest income

For year ended

Advance to Central Treasury
Priority sector loans

DBE Special bond

Foreign time deposits

Call and ordinary accounts
Foreign securities

Advance to domestic banks
Government bonds

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
3,485,972,603 2,524,931,507
634,479,454 1,732,388,883

2,114,366,658
2,460,179,051
1,303,879,082

168,781,290
9,099,619,900
8,730,142,268

150,200,910
1,576,532,772
652,936,705
178,060,371
8.,451,943,217
7,445,535,908

Total interest income

27,997,420,307

22,712,530,273

For year ended

For year ended

Interest expense 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Government deposits 974,918,084 970,345,491
International Monetary Fund 1,280,830,357 832,403,625
Correspondent banks 3,007,992 2,947,336
Interest on time deposits 6,667,709,383 3,292,282,140
General Resource Account (GRA) charge on

Special Drawing Rights (SlgR) Plzrchasgc;’ 244,518.295 At
Acc. interest Exp. On FCY Reserve 1,681,038 -
Total interest expense 9,272,965,249 5,342,833,233

I Refer to Note 18 for details on this disclosure item

Fee and commission income
Exchange service commission

For year ended

For year ended

Foreign exchange transfers
Local banks
Government and Government institutions

Exchange service commission

Service charge commission
Treasury bills
Other service charges

Service charge commission

Total fee and commission income

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
1,739,738,264 2,220,569,449
9,542,302,694 7,547,860,796

941,384,835 1,488,044,159
12,223,425,793 11,256,474,404
500,370,056 361,488,339
682,378,462 491,242,999
1,182,748,518 852,731,338
13,406,174,311 12,109,205,742
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Revenue from sale of gold *
For year ended For year ended
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Local sales 28,625,186 17,040,298
Foreign sales 4,950,000,139 14,081,736,673
4,978,625,325 14,098,776,971

* Revenue from sale of gold was less than the gold purchase cost due to the increase on premium
price which was paid to the suppliers of the gold on the world gold price.

Other Operating Income and Fair value gains / (losses) on financial assets measured at FVOCI

a) Other Operating Income

For year ended For year ended

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Dividend income 35,852,659 18,430,518
Postage, telephone and telex refunds 772,700 712,521
License fee* 73,672,723 35,922,676
Sundries 137,294,365 159,150,003
Amortisation of deferred revenue 3,268,622 3,160,193
250,861,069 217,375,911

*License fees: The Bank is mandated to issue business licenses to financial institutions operating in
Ethiopia. The license fees are earned from the issuance of new and renewal of business licenses to
financial institutions giving them mandate to operate in Ethiopia. The financial institutions that are
licensed include: banks, microfinance institutions as well as insurance businesses, insurance
agencies, insurance actuaries, insurance surveyors and insurance brokers.

b). Fair value gains / (losses) on financial assets measured at FYOCI

For year ended For year ended

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Fair value gain/Loss on Equity Investments 185,577,051 145,298,948
Fair value gain /Loss on IMF quota Subscription 615,906,502 1,164,021.619
801,483,553 1,309,320,567

Fair value gains/losses on financial assets measured at FVOCI include Birr 185.6 million, representing
the valuation of the Bank’s shares in Afreximbank and Africa Reinsurance Corporation. Additionally,
Birr 615.91 million relates to the revaluation of the IMF quota in SDR, translated at the Ethiopian Birr
exchange rate determined by the IMF as of 30 April 2024.

For more details, refer to notes 10 & 18.
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8. Operating expenses

a). Currency costs

For year ended

For year ended

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Printing of bank notes 1,030,733, 777 3,684,696,781
Minting of coins 9,300 131,401,507
Total currency costs 1,030,743,077 3,816,098,288

b). General and administration costs

Depreciation and Amortization 101,242,679 94,122,131
Depreciation — Right of use asset 1,175,635 398,446
Loss on foreign exchange differences' 38,136,853,904 12,169,582,584
Loss on Inventory write down? 78,942,028 34,046,877
Fuel and lubricants 6,494,083 5,189,185
Membership fees 2,598,015 2,496,244
Travelling and per diem 18,041,234 9.291.531
Stationery and printing 13,000,044 10,264,354
Transportation of currency 32,698,425 36,268,839
Repairs and maintenance costs 94,733,429 65,645,041
Advertisements 836,641 2,456,956
Communications 11,034,851 10,648,989
Utilities 10,893,287 5,423,340
Reuters' Service 6,541,730 5,749,878
Insurance 11,625,628 8,789,516
Tuition fees 1,374,134 980,370
Subscriptions 684,186 558,193
Audit fee 1,840,000 1,380,000
Bankers' Club 8,072,597 3,373,698
Uniforms 8,922,651 1,954,555
Entertainment 12,661,387 4,089,809
Board fees 1,505,241 1,458,000
Legal expenses 66,620 1,280,205
Miscellaneous 67,925,738 685,896,746
Losses on currency notes in custody? - 60,261,200
Total general and administration expenses 38,629,764,167 13,221,606,686

! Loss on foreign exchange differences; This balance arises from the net impact/differences resulting
from translating a given number of units of foreign currencies into the bank’s reporting currency, that is,
ETB at different exchange rates. Included in the above balance is payment incurred by the bank amounting
to birr 28.3 billion, which represents reimbursement paid by the Bank to settle foreign exchange remittance
related claim.

Loss on Inventory write down arises due to gold purchase cost is less than the NRV as a result of the
increase on premium price which was paid to the suppliers of the gold on the world gold price.
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Operating expenses (continued)

c). Salaries and related benefits

Staff salaries

Periodic employees’ benefits costs
Overtime

Bonus

Medical expenses

Representation allowance

Fuel and transportation allowance
Housing allowance

Salary outsourcing

Accumulated leave expenditure
Total salaries and related benefits

d). Gold purchase, refinery and other related costs

Gold purchase costs
Gold transport and other costs

. Impairment losses on financial instruments

For year ended

For year ended

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
274,547,294 264,032,786
64,239,540 26,039,382
3,204,891 7,580,355
42,136,814 38,196,259
39,944,972 27,995,113
25,439,404 18,024,695
99,663,570 77,502,025
29,049,526 30,349,700
20,329,307 22,304,937
1,661,222 1,555,491
600,216,540 513,580,743

For year ended

For year ended

Balance as at 1 July — Financial assets!
Balance as at 1 July — Other assets:
Loans to employees?

Balance as at 1 July — Other assets: Staff
advances®

Total balance as at 1 July

Charged to profit or loss — Financial
assets!

Charged to profit or loss — Other assets:
Loans to employees?

Charged to profit or loss — Other assets:
Staff advances’

Total charged to profit or loss

Total cumulative impairment losses

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
6,903,950,044 15,509,844,931
16,822,917 12,991,512
6,920,772,961 15,522,836,443
For year ended 30 For year ended
June 2024 30 June 2023
(4,773,417,421) (3,110,130,602)
(813,357) (696,402)
(812,144) (744,516)
(4,775,042,922) (3,111,571,520)
(688,595,897) (1,663,286,819)
240,732 (116,955)
(2,659,981) (67,628)
(691,015,146) (1,663,471,402)
(5,466,058,068) (4,775,042,922)
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8. Operating expenses (continued)

e). Impairment losses on financial instruments (continued)

'Financial assets relate to instruments held in favour of the bank or owed to the bank by other
financial institutions. The bank holds the following financial assets: loans due from the Government
of Ethiopia, loans to Government banks; as well as call, current and time deposits held with foreign
commercial and central banks.

2 The bank provides interest free loans to employees. These loans are checked off against the staff
payroll. However, in some cases employees may leave the Bank without settling their due loans in
full. The Bank therefore assesses each of the cases and provides an impairment loss allowance

against the outstanding staff loan balance.

3 The Bank also provides staff advances to employees for field work purpose.

9. Financial assets

The following balances represent financial assets disclosures after factoring in expected credit loss

(ECL):

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Due from Government of Ethiopia (a) 687,897,177,830 586,975,969,831
Loans to government banks (b) 134,953,595,130 138,669,694,348

Due from foreign institutions — commercial banks (c)
Due from foreign institutions — central banks (d)

32,061,462,892
47,483,737,622

26,551,779,926
27,228,439,137

Cash - foreign currencies* (e) 712,631,306 654,953,910
Funds held with IMF(f) 176,870,099 106,243,555
Loans to private commercial banks(g) 13,210,129,051 15,055,046,984
Total Gross amounts 916,495,603,930 795,242,127,690
Allowance for credit losses 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Due from Government of Ethiopia (a) (4,560,748,058) (3,856,307,497)
Loans to government banks (b) (894,740,328) (911,030,450)
Due from foreign institutions — commercial banks (c) (5,864,426) (5,326,722)
Loans to private commercial banks(g) (660,506) (752, 752)
Total impairment (5,462,013,318) (4,773,417,421)
Financial assets net of allowance for credit losses

911,033,590,612 790,468,710,269
Allowance for credit losses movement
Balance as at 1 July (4,773,417,421) (3,110,130,602)
Charged to profit or loss (688,595,897) (1,663,286,819)
Balance as at 30 June (5,462,013,318) (4,773,417,421)

*These financial assets were not impaired.

For the rest of the financial assets that were impaired, the following disclosures denote the

impairment of the same.
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9. Financial assets (continued)

(a) Due from Government of Ethiopia

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Direct advance! 242.000,000,000 130,000,000,000
Non-interest-bearing bond? 3,638,562,667 4,378,313,269
Interest bearing bonds? 430,806,916,373 430,478,888,156
IMF Loan to Ministry of finance* 11,451,698,791 22,118,768,405
Less: allowance for credit losses (4,560,748,058) (3,856,307,497)
683,336,429,771 583,119,662,333

'NBE issues on a regular basis a perpetual direct advance to the government which bears interest
at the rate of 2% per annum.

’NBE has issued a non-interest-bearing bond with a maturity date of 1 July 2034. The bond has
been measured at the present value of all its future cash receipts discounted at an effective interest
rate of 3%. The bank determined this to be the prevailing market rate of interest for similar bonds
issued to the government. NBE has reclassified day one fair value gains and losses of non-interest-
bearing bond financial assets in order to eliminate any accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise.

’NBE has issued a 2% annual interest bonds which mature on 03 October 2044. In addition,
following decision by the Bank’s board of directors in October 2022, the bank restructured the
direct advance loan balance outstanding as at 07 October 2022 of Birr 236,500,000,000 to a 2%
government bond which is payable in thirty equal semiannual installments as from 08 April 2033
which mature on 08 October 2047.

“Refer to note 18 for details on RFI loan from IMF to the government of Ethiopia.

NBE does not require collateral or guarantee to loan funds to the Government of Ethiopia.

(b) Loans to government banks

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Development Bank of Ethiopia priority
sector loans ! 11,494.,465,755 15,233,673,680
Commercial Bank of Ethiopia bonds® 93,180,441,507 93,163,109,757

Development Bank of Ethiopia Special
Bond' 30,278,687,868 30,272,910,911
Less: allowance for credit losses (894,740,328) (911,030,450)
134,058,854,802 137,758,663,898

'NBE issues loans to DBE for priority sector investment projects and charges interest at the rate of 5%.
These loans have loan tenure of 5 years. Birr 30.3 billion which was converted to 12 years special bond on
June 05, 2023 following NBE repealed a policy for a DBE priority sectors loan financing. The bond shall
bear interest at the rate of 7% per annum which shall be paid semi-annually.

2The Bank issued term bonds to the Commercial Bank of Ethiopia amounting to ETB 81.4 billion and ETB
9.0 billion, respectively. The principal amounts of these bonds shall become due within 10 years from the
date of receipt by CBE. The interest on these bonds is paid semi-annually and bears 7% interest.

NBE does not require collateral or guarantee to loan funds to government banks.
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9. Financial assets (continued)

(¢) Due from foreign institutions — commercial banks

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Due from foreign institutions — commercial
banks 32,061,462,892 26,551,779,926
Less: Impairment (5,864,426) (5,326,712)

32,055,598,466 26,546,453,204

The balance due from commercial banks by NBE represents call, current and time deposit accounts
held with the following foreign institutions: CITIBANK New York (USD); JP Morgan Chase (USD);
National Westminster - London (GBP); Commerz bank AG Frankfurt (Euro & USD); Bank of
Tokyo (YEN), Afreximbank(USD) , Eastern and Southern African Trade and Development
Bank(USD) and Standard Chartered Bank — London (GBP).

(d) Due from foreign institutions — central banks

The Bank maintains call, current and time deposits with several central banks domiciled in Europe,
USA and Asia. These central banks include: Federal Reserve Bank of New York (USD); Bank for
International Settlements (BIS); Bank of England (GBP & USD); Deutsche Bundesbank (EURO);
International Bank of Reconstruction and Development (USD) and Central Bank of The United Arab
Emirate (USD & AED).

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Balances due from foreign entities — Central 47,483,737,622 27,228,439,137
banks
Less: Impairment

47,483,737,622 27,228,439,137

(e) Cash - foreign currencies

This relates to cash held by NBE in foreign currency denominations. The foreign currency balances
are translated to Ethiopian Birr (ETB) at each reporting date using the mid- rate applicable on that
date. As at 30 June 2024, NBE held foreign currency balances worth ETB 712,631,306 (2023: ETB
654,953,910).
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Financial assets (continued)

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date of
acquisition, including foreign currencies on hand, balances held with foreign institutions —
commercial and central banks and funds held with IMF.

For year ended For year ended
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Balances due from foreign entities — Commercial 32,055,598,466 26,546,453,204
banks
Balances due from foreign entities — Central banks 47,483,737,622 27,228,439,137
Cash - foreign currencies 712,631,306 654,953,910
Funds held with IMF? 176,870,099 106,243,555

80,428,837,493 54,536,089,806
Less: Time Deposit with maturity period over three

months'

[BRD* (2,930,459,469) (2,787,002,910)
Eastern and Southern African Trade and

Development Bank (TDB) (18,313,568,606) (16,701,866,380)
Afreximbank (314,713,008) (284,301,437)

58,870,096,410 34,762,919,079
* IBRD - The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development

' The tenure of time deposits with IBRD, Eastern and Southern African Trade & Development Bank, and
Afreximbank is one year. The interest rate for IBRD is based on offer acceptance and changed on a
quarterly basis and for Afreximbank and TDB it is based on negotiation in accordance with the terms of
the deal and fixed annually. The tenure of other time deposits ranges between one to three months.

*This is stock of IMF currency for NBE held with IMF. The account which is denominated in SDR is
used to deposit funds to effect payments against IMF obligations such as loan repayments and charges.
The SDR currency is derived from a basket of 5 currencies (USD, EURO, GBP, JPY and Yuan).

For further details on cash and cash equivalents, refer to notes 9 (c, d, e, and f) above.

(g) Loans to private commercial banks

In the financial period ended 30 June 2024, NBE extended one-month credit facilities to 18 local
commercial Banks worth ETB 86,923,868,091 in total of which ETB 13,210,129,051 was
outstanding as at 30 June 2024. The loans are aimed at promoting financial sector stability and
temporarily support for the liquidity assistance to banks and attract an 18% interest rate. These loans
are guaranteed by NBE bills and other government securities worth ETB 14,780,294,760.

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Loans to private commercial banks 13,210,129,050 15,055,046,984
Less: Impairment (660,508) (752,752)

13,209,468,542 15,054,294,232
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10. Equity Investment
The Bank holds the following investments in shares:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
African Export-Import Bank 971,392,047 782,539,660
Africa Re-insurance 158,689,405 131,246,386
Local Currency Investment-Ethswitch S.C 6,000 1,000
1,130,087,452 913,787,046

On initial recognition the bank made an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income the
changes in the fair value of all its investments in shares as these equity investments represent strategic
long-term holdings not held for trading.

The Bank measures the fair value of its equity investments classified as fair value through OCI (FVOCI)
using the Market Approach, in accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. To determine fair
value, the bank uses a valuation technique that: is appropriate in the circumstances; for which sufficient
data is available to measure fair value; maximizes use of relevant observable inputs and minimizes use of
unobservable inputs. The investments have been classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, as
the valuation relies on observable market information of comparable companies to the investee companies
being valued, with adjustments for inputs that are not directly observable.

For the purpose of a valuation, a price to book multiple were selected based on observed multiples for
peer companies and adjusted for specific factors such as company specific and liquidity discounts.

The changes in the fair values of the investment instruments were as follows:

Amount in ETB

Opening balances — 1 July 2022 388,607,382
Fair value adjustments - African Export-Import Bank 155,260,124
Fair value adjustments - Africa Re-insurance (9,961,174)
Local Currency Investment-Ethswitch S.C 1,000
Additional investment (381 share of African Export-Import 379,879,715
Bank)

Closing balances — 30 June 2023 913,787,046
Fair value adjustments - African Export-Import Bank 158,134,033
Fair value adjustments - Africa Re-insurance 27,443,019
Additional Investment-Ethswitch S.C 5,000
Additional share acquisition by dividend payment (27 shares 30.718.354
of African Export-Import Bank) o
Closing balances — 30 June 2024 1,130,087,452

The African Export-Import Bank (Afreximbank) is a supranational institution, established on 27 October 1993.
Afreximbank is a grouping of regional central banks and financial institutions designed to facilitate intra and
extra African trade. During the year, the Bank acquired 27 shares from Afreximbank, this shares were bought
using the 2022 dividend proceeds. The total holding in Afreximbank increased from 762 shares in 2023 to 789
shares in 2024, representing 0.36% of the total holdings.

The African Reinsurance Corporation (Africa Re) is the leading pan-African reinsurance company and the
largest reinsurer in Africa in terms of net reinsurance written premiums.

As of 2024, the Bank's equity interest in African Reinsurance Corporation remained amounted to 9,200 shares
with a nominal value of $100 per share, representing 0.32% of the total holdings.
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11. Gold Commodity

Gold commodity comprises of raw gold or gold bullion which is sourced locally before it is refined
and sold abroad. Gold commodity not sold at year end is considered as inventory and is measured at
lower of cost and net realizable value.

The value of commodity gold is as follow;

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Opening balance 95,104,815 3,019,331,864
Purchases 7,028,957,174 12,620,023,356
Sales (6,903,950,045) (15,510,203,528)
Inventory write down* (78,942,028) (34,046,877)
Closing balance 141,169,916 95,104,815

* Refer to Note 8 (b) for details on this disclosure item

12. Related parties

(a) Parent and ultimate controlling party

The National Bank of Ethiopia was established in 1963 under order No. 30/1963 and is fully
owned by the government of Ethiopia through the Ministry of Finance (MOF).

In the normal course of its operations, the Bank enters into transactions with related parties who
include the following:

No | Related party Nature of relationship | Terms of transaction
1 Key management personnel Members of  the | Normal business terms
management team at
NBE
2 Commercial Bank of Ethiopia | Associate Normal business terms
(CBE
3 Development Bank of Ethiopia | Associate Normal business terms
(DBE)
4 Government of Ethiopia through | Owner Normal business terms
The Ministry of Finance (MOF)

(b) Key management personnel

The key management personnel of the National Bank of Ethiopia comprise of the following:

1.) The Board which includes the Governor and Vice governor in charge of monetary stability
cluster

ii.) Vice-Governor — Financial Institutions Supervision
iii.) Vice-Governor — Corporate Services
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12. Related parties (continued)

Key management members received the following remuneration during the years ended 30 June

2024 and 30 June 2023:
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Short-term employee benefits 7,082,353 5,375,831
Other long-term benefits 202,714 256,958
Post-employment benefits 4,426,241 3,138,114
11,711,308 8,770,903

Compensation of the Bank’s key management personnel includes all short- and long-term
benefits as well as consideration of their post-employment benefits. Some of the key
management personnel, who are not part of NBE staff such as some of the Board members, are
only entitled to monthly board fee and annual bonus. These amounts are also included within
salaries and related benefits note (Note 8 (c)).

(c¢) Loans to key management personnel

In accordance with the Bank’s policy, NBE issues interest-free loans to key management
personnel whose collateral is personal guarantees from NBE members of staff.

At the end of each reporting period, the Bank performs an impairment assessment on the
outstanding balances and provides for expected credit losses. The impairment loss has been
included in the sum of impairment losses of all staff loan balances for the periods ended 30 June
2024 and 30 June 2023. The loans to key management and the impairing arising thereof for these
periods were as follows:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Gross loans to key management (governor 296.660
and vice-governors) ’ 474,656
Impairment (715) (2.159)
Net lo.ans to key management (governor 295,945 472,497
and vice-governors)

(d) Other related parties transactions

The Bank entered into related party transactions whose terms were not equivalent to those that
prevail in arm’s length transactions. These transactions include loans, deposits and foreign
currency transactions.

The volumes of the related party transactions, outstanding balances at the end of the year and the
related expenses and incomes for the year are as follows:
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12. Related parties (continued)
(d) Other related parties transactions (continued)

i) Transactions with Commercial Bank of Ethiopia:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

CBE Term Bonds ' 93,180,441,507 93,163,109,757
Commercial Bank of Ethiopia A/R (ETB)? 12,274,225.019 14,061,842,855
105,454,666,526 107,224,952,612

The above amounts are the gross carrying amounts before impairment.

IThe interest earned on the CBE Term Bonds was ETB 6,343,420,608 (2023: ETB
6,978,143,654). The impairment loss on CBE Term bond was ETB 617,784,941 (2023: ETB
612,061,851).

2The balance relates to advances provided to CBE for the settlement of Letter of Credit commitments in
connection with the Government.

ii.) Transactions with Development Bank of Ethiopia:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

DBE Priority loan 11,494,465,755 15,233,673,680
DBE Special Bond 30,278,687,868 30,272,910,911
41,773,153,623 45,506,584,591

The above amounts are the gross carrying amounts before impairment.

The interest earned on the DBE priority loan and Special Bond was ETB 2,748.,846,112 (2023:
ETB 1,882,589,794). The impairment loss on DBE priority loan and Special Bond was ETB
276,955,387 (2023: ETB 298,968,599).
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13. Property and equipment

2024

Cost

Buildings
Office and other
equipment

ETB

Office furniture and
fittings

Motor vehicles
Work in progress

Depreciation
Building

Office and other
equipment

Office furniture and
fittings

Motor vehicles

Net carrying amount ETB

National Bank of Ethiopia

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

B;l:::g 0a2t330 Additions Disposals Reclassifications Asljustuenis Bi:?::; 3;:0
1,328,433,978 - - - - 1,328,433,978
472,766,806 60,523,468 (14,175,046) : i 519115227
33,917,082 2,832,141 (787,450) - - 35,961,773
186,541,139 17,726,368 (4,519,989) - - 199,747,518
267,544,256 609,463,310 - - - 877,007,566
2,289,203,261 690,545,287  (19,482,485) - - 2,960,266,062
(348,315,182) (49,816,274) - - - (398,131,456)
(398,855,179) (27,467,416) 14,022,387 - - (412,300,210)
(25,194,591) (3,470,144) 775,166 - - (27,889,569)
(81,974,829) (19,681,975) 3,389,991 - - (98,266,812)
(854,339,781)  (100,435,809) 18,187,544 - (936,588,047)
1,434,863,480 590,109,477 (1,294,941) - - 2,023,678,015

- Property, Plant, and Equipment (PPE) with a total purchase price of Birr 375,575,967 are fully depreciated and have a residual value of
Birr 16,213,505, yet they are still in use.
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(In Ethiopian Birr)
13. Property and equipment (continued)
Balance at 30 - i ; ’ Adjustments Balance at 30
2023 ETB June 2022 Additions Disposals Reclassifications June 2023
Cost
Buildings 1,328,433,978 - - - - 1,328,433,978
Office and other
B — 442,310,950 30,763,097 (307,241) ) ) 472,766,806
?“.-“’e Tudisthine fnd 33,415,841 632211 (130,969) - 33,917,082
ittings -
Motor vehicles 141,376,648 45,164,490 - - - 186,541,139
Work in progress* 143,677,661 124,264,495 - - (397,900) 267,544,256
2,089,215,078 200,824,293 (438,210) - (397,900) 2,289,203,261
Depreciation
Building (298,498,908) (49,816,274) - - - (348,315,182)
Office and other
equipment (372,809,933) (26,313,006) 267,760 - - (398,855,179)
Office furniture and
fittings (21,843,651) (3,474,081) 123,140 - - (25,194,591)
Motor vehicles (68,784,650) (13,190,179) - - - (81,974,829)
(761,937,142) (92,793,539) 390,900 - (854,339,781)
Net carrying amount ETB 1,327,277,936 108,030,754 (47,310) - (397,900) 1,434,863,480

The total value of Property, Plant, and Equipment (PPE) with a purchase price of Birr 394,580,276 is fully depreciated and has aresidual value
of Birr 17,484,954, yet these items remain in use.

56



National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)
14. Intangible assets
Software
Cost
Balance at 30 June 2023 ETB 94,522,849
Additions / transfers from CWIP -
Balance at 30 June 2024* 94,522,849
Amortization and impairment
Balance at 30 June 2023 (93,288,336)
Additions (806,870)
Balance at 30 June 2024 (94,095,206)
Net carrying amount ETB 427,643
Software
Cost
Balance at 30 June 2022 ETB 94,522,849
Additions / transfers from CWIP -
Balance at 30 June 2023 94,522,849
Amortization and impairment
Balance at 30 June 2022 (91,959,743)
Additions (1,328,592)
Balance at 30 June 2023 (93,288,336)
Net carrying amount ETB 1,234,513

Intangible assets relate to software that includes banking and other related software’s. In the financial
period ended 30 June 2024, NBE not acquired new software. There were no idle assets and changes
relating to the useful life of intangible assets as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

*Aggregate value of Intangible assets relate to software amounting Birr 90,488,498 are fully amortized
were still in use.

15. Other assets

Advances to CBE for gold purchases
Sundry receivables from CBE !

Commemorative souvenirs in gold and silver
Loans to employees (a)
Staff advances (b)

Office and other consumables (c)

Uncleared effects
Sundry receivables *

Miscellaneous*
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ETB

30 June 2024

30 June 2023

2,139,916,479
12,274,225,019

1,779,638,723
14,061,842,855

8,124,719 8,793,036
159,726,290 78,517,846
4,890,072 2,176,239
30,584,193 21,456,810
5,502,032 6,753,807
3,659,000,240 2,942,640,940
(17,131,667) (17,263,880)
18,264,837,377 18,884,556,376




15.

National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024
(In Ethiopian Birr)

Other assets (continued)
*The balances under the miscellaneous account relate to CMD unadjusted notes in circulation and
outstanding Claim on Commercial Banks.

IRefer to note 12(d) for details on this disclosure item.
? The balance under this disclosure item relates to advances paid to suppliers in connection with the
Bank’s various projects.

(a) Loans to employees

The Bank extends interest free loans, which are therefore at a lower rate compared to the
prevailing market rates and bear annual interest of 17.6%, to its entire staff in accordance with the
Bank’s policy. The loans are repayable within five years and are secured by a guarantor. The bank
does not perform a fair valuation of these loans since the tenure/duration of these loans is short-
term in nature and the credit exposure to the bank is minimal.

The Bank performs an impairment test on a continuous basis and provides an allowance for

impairment losses at the reporting date.

Loans to employees for the two periods were as follows:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Gross Loans to employees 160,298,913 19351.202
Cumulative impairment losses (572,624) (813,356)
Net Loans to employees 159,726,289 78,517,846
Movement of impairment losses for staff loan 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
accounts
Balance as at 1 July 813,356 696,401
Charged to profit or loss (240,732) 116,955
Balance as at 30 June 572,624 813,356
(b) Staff advances
The following table shows the staff advances breakdown:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Gross staff advances 8,362,197 2,988,383
Cumulative Impairment losses (3,472,125) (812,144)
Net staff advances 4,890,072 2,176,239
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15.  Other assets (continued)

(b) Staff advances (continued)

Movement of impairment losses for staff 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
advances

Balance as at 1 July (812,144) (744,516)
Charged to profit or loss (2,659,981) (67,628)
Balance as at 30 June (3,472,125) (812,144)

(c) Office and other consumables

The breakdown of office and other consumables items is as shown below:

Office and other consumables 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Gross carrying amount 30,584,193 21,364,742
Office and other consumables — adjustments - 92,068
Net carrying amount 30,584,193 21,456,810

The Bank’s office and other consumables comprise of spare parts, stationary items, uniforms,
stocks of facilities for office equipment, buildings, sorting and shredding machine, cleaning and
sanitary materials, fuel and lubricant, tyres and inner tubes. These office and other consumables
are not meant for resale and are therefore measured at cost.

16. Right of use assets

The Bank leases some buildings within Ethiopia. Information about leases for which the Bank is a
lessee is presented below:

Right-of-use assets:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year 4,065,741 2,759,827
Additions - 1,305,914
Remeasurement adjustment 4,062,894 -
Balance as at 30 June 8,128,635 4,065,741
Depreciation
Balance as at 1 July (1,318,390) (919,944)
Charge for the year (1.175.635) (398.446)
Balance at 30 June (2,494,025) (1,318,390)
Net carrying value 5,634,610 2,747,351
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16. Right of use assets (continued)

Lease liabilities:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Balance at beginning of the year 3,090,450 2,116,398
Additions - 1,305,914
Interest expense 376,937 140,956
Payments made during the year (1,333 277) (472,818)
Remeasurement adjustment 3,759,782 -
Net carrying value 5,893,892 3,090,450
Maturity analysis:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Less than 1 year 1,183,985 799,112
1 -2 years 720,000 771,005
3 -5 years 2,160,000 741,060
More than 5 years 3,652,221 1,543,937
Total 7,716,206 3,855,114

-NBE calculated lease related assets and liabilities per its accounting policy disclosed on Note 3(e).
As a lender of last resort, the Bank is not subject to conventional borrowing patterns of a
commercial bank. In the event that the Bank had to borrow funds equivalent to the value of the right
of use asset, the Bank would be financed by the Government through issuance of a bond. The Bank
used an incremental borrowing rate that is equivalent to the Grand Renaissance bond issued by the
government. The Grand Renaissance bond was issued at a rate of 6%. The Bank adopted this rate as
its incremental borrowing rate for purposes of computing its lease liabilities. The Bank had no

short-term lease commitments in period ended 30 June 2024 therefore no lease expense was
recognized in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

-During the year, the Bank remeasured certain lease liabilities due to change in contractual lease
payments. The remeasurement resulted in an increase in lease liabilities and a corresponding

adjustment to the right-of-use assets.
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(In Ethiopian Birr)

17. Deposits due to local financial institutions, government, and government institutions

Deposits due to financial institutions and the Government were as follows:

Domestic currency deposits 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Deposits from banks! 216,109,019,397 224,233,889,027
Deposits from insurance companies? 17,726,182 4,409,903
Government and governmental agencies® 42,867,358,352 42,277,388,265
258,994,103,931 266,515,687,195
Foreign currency deposits
Government and governmental agencies 93,255,434,532 93,414,504,170
Foreign Currency Reserve Accounts-Local
Banks 59,295,234 -
93,314,729,766 93,414,504,170
Deposits from banks and government 352,308,833,697 359,930,191,365

'Banks maintain deposit accounts with the NBE to facilitate monetary policy operations and ensure
regulatory compliance. Reserve accounts are maintained to meet statutory reserve requirements and
support the implementation of monetary policy, particularly through the management of reserve
money targets aimed at controlling inflation. All commercial banks are required to maintain a
reserve balance equivalent to 5% of their net deposit liabilities at all times, and a monthly average
reserve balance of 7% of their net deposit liabilities. Payment and settlement accounts are used to
process daily transactions, including clearing and settlement of funds transfers, and support the
smooth functioning of the payment system. Issue accounts are used by the bank to manage currency
issuance and withdrawals, tracking the flow of notes and coins between the central bank and
commercial banks. These deposit accounts are typically non-interest-bearing and maintained to
ensure operational efficiency, financial stability, and adherence to monetary policy frameworks.

2All insurance companies are required to deposit 5% of their annual net earned premium with NBE.
The amounts of deposits with NBE are adjusted on an annual basis depending on the growth in an

insurance company’s net earned premium. These deposits do not earn any interest and neither does
NBE reinvest this money.

3The Government and Government agencies deposit money with NBE. These deposits are
denominated in both domestic and foreign currencies with domestic deposits earning interest at the
rate of 2% pa. The obligation arising from NBE holding these deposits is measured at cost i.e. the
actual value of the deposit. The finance cost is recognized as an expense in the statement of profit or
loss over the period NBE holds the deposit. The interest payments to Ministry of Finance (MOF) are
done monthly.

A deposit from banks is made up of the following:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Payment and Settlement accounts 49,064,294,096 78,903,764,410
Reserve accounts 148,187,989,652 128,631,413,807
Issue accounts 18,856,735,649 16,698,710,810
216,109,019,397 224,233,889,027
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18. Balance with /due to International Monetary Fund (IMF)

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

(a) Assets: ETB ETB
Holdings of Special drawing rights (SDR) 175,145,512 105,122,579
Accr. Int. Receivable - Special Drawing Rights 1,336,566 765,818
Remuneration Fee — IMF 388,021 355,158
176,870,099 106,243,555
IMF Quota Subscription 22,557,124,177 21,941,217,675
22,733,994,276 22,047,461,230
(b) Liabilities: 30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Local currency liability ETB ETB
IMF Nol Account 26,116,679,870 25,403,582,185
IMF No2 Account 5,503,785 2,353,529
Securities Account-Promissory Notes Payable 13,435,920,372 24,513,315,025
39,558,104,027 49,922,250,739

Foreign Currency Liabilities to IMF

ECF-Loan Disbursement-IMF 10,066,994,288 9,798,364,524

Allocation of special drawing rights (SDR)-
Principal

31,347,340,068

30,510,861,143

Accrued charges on SDR allocation 212,779,905 194,721,233
Account Payable -GRA changes IMF 153,057,183 230,815,939
41,780,171,444 40,734,762,839
81,338,275,471 90,657,013,578

The movements in IMF quota subscription during the year:
30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Beginning balance
Current Fair Value adjustment
Reclassification adjustment*

21,941,217,675

615,906,502

29,921,124,958
1,164,021,619
(9,143,928,902)

Total 22,557,124,177 21,941,217,675

*The downward adjustment to the IMF quota Subscription for the comparative period is due to
misclassification of the IMF currency holding valuation adjustment for proportion of loan received by
government of Ethiopia/MoF to CVA account.

NBE holds funds it has received from international financial institutions as either loans or direct bank
deposits that it is obliged to repay back as per the membership agreements. The obligation is
measured at amortized cost.

Holdings of Special drawing rights (SDR) which is deposit denominated in SDR is used to effect

payments against IMF obligations such as loan repayments and charges. The SDR currency is
derived from a basket of 5 currencies (USD, EURO, GBP, JPY and Yuan).
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18. Balance with /due to International Monetary Fund (IMF)(continued)

Ethiopia has been a member of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) since 1945. The Bank acts as
the fiscal agent that conducts the financial transaction with the IMF and designated as the depository
for IMF’s currency holdings. The Ethiopia’s quota in IMF stood at SDR 300.7 million (2023; SDR
300.7 million), which represents 4,459 votes’ equivalent to 0.09% of voting rights. The quota is
determined upon admission to the IMF and is increased periodically under general quotas reviews.
The Ethiopia’s quota in IMF is its membership subscription which is granted mainly by the issue of
promissory notes in favor of the IMF and partly by foreign currency payments by the Government of
Ethiopia. Being in line with strategic investment criteria, Ethiopia’s quota in the IMF was designated
as measured at FVOCI. The variation of the quota recorded during the reporting period represents the
revaluation of the value of the quota in SDR at the exchange rate of Ethiopian Birr as determined by
IMF at 30 April, 2024,

IMF currency holdings are held in the form of either promissory notes which are payable on demand
and non-interest bearing & non-negotiable or in the No. 1 and No. 2 Accounts, which are deposit
accounts of the IMF with the Bank. Its valuation is done on a quarterly basis with IMF requirements
for these specific Accounts. The amounts included in the Local currency liability also include the
loans received by the Bank from the IMF. The loans are denominated in Special Drawing Rights
(SDR), while measured in the equivalent of Ethiopian Birr at the end of the reporting period.

Borrowings from and repayments to the IMF are denominated in Special Drawing Rights (SDRs).

As of 30 June 2024, the Bank's outstanding balance of loans due to IMF is as follows:

EFF commitments - SDR 82.69 million (30, June 2023 - SDR 90.21 million)
¢ ECF commitment-SDR 133.6 million (30, June 2023 - SDR 133.6 million)
» SDR allocations - SDR 416.1 million (30, June 2023 - SDR 416.1 million)

The Extended Fund Facility (EFF) represents the loans granted to the IMF members to finance the
balance of payments deficit. IMF granted a loan under the EFF amounting to SDR 90.21 million on
December 18, 2019, for a 10-year term, including a 4.5-year grace period. The interest rate on this
loan is floating, determined on weekly basis and includes a margin set by the IMF.

The Extended Credit Facility (ECF, previously PRGF) represents the loans granted to the countries
that meet the eligibility criteria approved by the IMF under concessional financing to support
economic growth and poverty reduction. The IMF granted loan under ECF facility amounting to SDR
133.6 million on December 16, 2019 for a 10-year term and with a 5.5-year grace period. Based on
the decision of the IMF Executive Board, the ECF loan bears no interest.

The Rapid Financing Instrument (RFI) represents the loans granted to the countries that meet the
eligibility criteria approved by the IMF for Direct budget financing. The IMF granted RFI loans to
Ethiopia amounting to SDR 300.7million on April 30, 2020 for a 5-year term and with a 3.25-year
grace period. The interest rate on this loan is market-determined Special Drawing Rights (SDR)
interest rate-which has a minimum floor of 5 basis points and a margin (currently 100 basis points),
together known as the basic rate of charge as set by the IMF.

63

7 A" -~/ %
< & -
<, == !
Jereq Carmed P




National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
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(In Ethiopian Birr)

18. Balance with /due to International Monetary Fund (IMF) (continued)

To present Ethiopia’s complete financial position to the IMF, the table below outlines the amounts of
financing funds received by Ethiopia from the IMF:

Loans and other Balance as Reimbursements  Receipts Balance as
ﬁnanciﬂg 30 June 2023 30 June 2024
from the IMF SDR' in millions SDR' in millions SDR' in millions SDR' in millions
National Bank of Ethiopia 90.21 71.82 ) 82.69
Ministry of Finance i i

EFF 90.2 7.52 - 82.69
National Bank of Ethiopia 133.64 - - 133.6
Ministry of Finance - - - -
ECF 133.6 - - 133.6
National Bank of Ethiopia s - - -
Ministry of Finance 300.7 150.35 - 150.35
RFI 300.7 150.35 - 150.35
National Bank of Ethiopia 416.1 - - 416.1
Ministry of Finance - - - -
SDR allocations 416.1 416.1

SDR allocations represent the general reserve allocations in SDR made by the IMF in August 2009

and the special allocations distributed by the IMF in September 2009 under Amendment IV to the
IMF Statute.

At the same time, on 2 August 2021, the Board of Governors of the IMF approved a resolution on a
new procedure for allocating special drawing rights to member countries, in proportion to the size of
Ethiopia's share in the IMF held at the date of the decision. On 23 August 2021, SDR 288.2 million

were allocated and transferred to Government of Ethiopia, the allocation rate being about 95.84% of
the size of the Quota.

19. Due to International Financial institutions

Deposits due to international financial institutions were as follows:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (IBRD) 34,977,247 7,057,660
International Development Association 705,369 2,640,301
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency 156,782 156,781
35,839,398 9,854,742
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20. Due to other institutions
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Deposits from foreign institutions
Foreign currency deposits due to International 257,699,053 250,510,001
institutions
Time deposits due to Saudi Arabia’ 58,787,223,651 55,146,907,191
Time deposit due to Abu Dhabi? 173,801,420,366 54,871,872,275
232,846,343,070 110,269,289,467

1Saudi Arabia deposited a time deposit worth USD 1billion with NBE in November 2015 for a
period of 6 years at an interest rate of 3%. NBE received an additional time deposit of USD 500
Million in period ended 30 June 2019 after repaid same amount from November 2017 - November
2019 as per the repayment contract. The two parties agreed to a new repayment plan. NBE did not
offer any collateral for the time deposit.

NBE received a time deposit of amount USD 1 billion from Abu Dhabi Fund in period ended 30
June 2019 at a fixed interest rate of 3% per annum payable semi- annually. Additionally, in October
2023, the Bank received a new time deposit of USD 2 billion from Abu Dhabi Fund for a term of
one year, bearing a fixed interest rate of 4% per annum, payable semi-annually.

21. Currency in circulation

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Notes 257,467,545,704 254,510,097,077
Coins 1,368,299,053 1,345,533,103

258,835,844,757 255,855,630,180

-NBE issues notes and coins on behalf of the government to the country to run the economy;
monitor the inflation rates and maintain economic stability. These are non-interest-bearing liabilities
and are due on demand.

22. Provisions

Bonuses Legal Total
Balances at 30 June 2022 34,056,318 2,005,587 36,061,905
Increases (decrease) recorded in profit or loss 38,196,259 1,217,859 39,414,118
Paid during the year (34,056,318) - (34,056,318)
Balances at 30 June 2023 38,196,259 3,223,446 41,419,704
Increases (decrease) recorded in profit or loss 42,036,804 (794,413) 41,242,391
Provisions used during the year (38,196,259) - (38,196,259)
Balances at 30 June 2024 42,036,804 2,429,033 44,465,837
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(In Ethiopian Birr)
22. Provisions (continued)

Bonus represent short-term benefits arising from past services provided by employees and are
expected to be paid within the next 12 months. Legal provisions represent various claims that are
pending outcome at the courts which the Bank’s legal team has determined that Bank is more than
probable to lose. The Bank has created a provision for this amount to ensure the Bank is covered when
the legal claims are decided against the Bank. During the financial year ended 30 June 2024, the Bank
was engaged with a determined exposure related to legal matters amounted to Birr 57,516.
Furthermore, a previously recognized provision of Birr 851,929 related to an ongoing legal case was
reversed during the year, as the case was resolved in favor of the Bank. The reversal of this provision
has been duly recorded in the statement of profit or loss for the year.

23. Government grants

(a) Land grant

NBE was awarded five (5) parcels of land by the Federal government on which the Bank constructed
buildings for its own use. Below are the details of the land awarded by Federal government:

Lamiinling Size (metres Lease
Location Sub-city certificate issue

d squared) term

ate
Addis Akaki
Khiahia Kaliti 28 February 2000 165,067
enrs Lideta 17 July 2011 7,669
Ababa
Addis Refer to
Lideta 12 January 1999 5,862 comment
Ababa
Addis belens®
- ] .

Ababa Lideta 01 July 1978
Addis :
Ababa Kirkos 04 December 2018 4,869

! The bank awaits a revised land holding certificate which will determine the correct sizes of the parcel
of land

%At the time of award of these parcels of land, there were no lease terms defined as they were indicated
as old possessions in the certificate of ownership. Further the bank has not been making any lease
payments on these properties

The Bank was awarded additional six (6) parcels of land by the regional governments and chartered
cities which were awarded free of charge. The Bank settled displacement cost and annual
government land use rates related to the land awarded. The land was donated to NBE in order to
enhance the Banks’ ability to provide central banking services to institutions in various regions and
cities. The right to use additional land in Kombolcha (Amhara region) commenced on 9 February

2016 and is still in progress. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to this
government grants.
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23. Government grants (continued)
(a) Land grant (continued)

Below are the details of land awarded by the regional governments:

Regional Licatisn Landholding Size (metres L ¢
government p— certificate issue date squared) Elyecern
Diredawa Dire dawa 06 July 2017 12,000 99 years
Ambhara Bahir Dar City | 20 October 2015 12,000 70 years
SNNP Hawasa 05 August 2016 10,855 99 years
SNNP Wolata Sodo' | 29 October 2015 12,000 | Refer to comment '
Tigray Mekele! 20 October 2015 8,807 below

2
Amhara Kombolcha? 09 February 2016 12,000 Refer tﬁe(;g\r;unent

' No lease term defined for these two (2) parcels of land. The certificate of ownership for these two
parcels of land indicates these as old possessions.

2 The bank has received a temporary documentation for this parcel of land and currently awaits the
official land holding certificate that should define the lease term.

The bank received all six (6) parcels of land free of any lease payments from the regional
governments and is not expected to make any lease payments even on the parcels of land with a
defined lease term.

The Bank has incurred the following costs in fulfilling the land grant conditions and contingencies.

Regional government Location Displacement costs ETB

Diredawa Dire dawa 2,822,639
SNNP Wolata Sodo 8,059,041
SNNP Hawasa 195,498
Ambhara Kombolcha 2,094,363

The above displacement costs have been recorded under capital work in progress (CWIP). The
costs will be capitalized under buildings when the construction is finalized for the same.

(b) Monetary donation

Monetary grants refer to donations received in the form of money. The Bank received a monetary
donation for the purchase of twenty laptops from Rural Financial Intermediation Programme III
(RUFIP) on 02 Oct 2023.

The laptops were purchased for use by the Microfinance Supervision Directorate to enhance
efficiency in provision of services to Microfinance institutions. The Bank adopted government
grant accounting for asset-based grants and recognizes the laptops at cost under property and
equipment. The laptops have been classified under property and equipment.
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(In Ethiopian Birr)

Government grants (continued)

(c) Non-monetary donation

Non-monetary grants refer to donations received in kind. The Bank did not receive any non-
monetary donations during the financial year ended 30 June 2024.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to these donations.

(d) Deferred revenue

Cost ETB 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Balance as at 1 July 16,061,708 16,061,708
Additions 2,782.6099 -
Balance at 30 June 18,844,317 16,061,708
Amortization ETB
Balance as at 1 July (7,182,862) (4,022,669)
Additions (3,268,622) (3,160,193)
Balance at 30 June (10,451,484) (7,182,862)
Net balance 8,392,833 8,878,846
24. Due to the Ministry of Finance
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Balance as at 1 July 11,120,875,954 5,374,906,270

Less: Dividends paid during the year - (1,500,000,000)
Less: Transfer to General Reserve' (11,120,875,954) -

- 3,874,906,270
Add: 80% of Operating surplus for the year - 7.245,969.684
Balance as at 30 June - 11,120,875,954

Tn line with the Board’s decision, the Bank transferred the accumulated dividend payable to the
Ministry of Finance to the General Reserve, with the objective of strengthening the Bank’s capital
position. The Bank is owned by the Government through the Ministry of Finance. It is expected to
remit 80% profits earned during the year as dividends to the Ministry subject to having fulfilled
the required threshold for its General reserves (Note 27).

%

e 0
> %
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25. Employee benefits
(a) Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations (DBO)

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Defined Benefit Obligations (DBO) at beginning
of the year 394,772,324 196,314,924
Current service costs 24,035,328 15,160,982
Interest cost 58,974,514 26,777,356
Past service cost - -
Remeasurements generated during the period (1,067,714) 22,749,470
Payments/Settlements in the year (17,702,588) (38,648,427)
Included in profit or loss during the period 64,239,540 26,039,380
Actuarial losses/ (gains) recognized in other
comprehensive income (50,478.,770) 172,418,020
Defined Benefit Obligations (DBO at the end of
the year 408,533,094 394,772,324

This defined benefit plan exposes the Bank to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk,
interest risk and market risk.

(b) Actuarial losses/ (gains) recognized in other comprehensive income

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Cumulative amount at 1 July (119,382,448) 53,035,572
Recognized during the year 50,478,770 (172,418,020)
Actuarial losses/(gains) (68,903,678) (119,382,448)

(¢) Actuarial assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date are detailed below:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Discount rate 14.75% 14.82%
Salary increase rate 15.75% 15.70%
Long term inflation rate - 12.80%
Long term medical inflation rate 12.75% 13.75%
Funeral Benefit Escalation rate 10.75% -

The assumed discount rates are derived from rates available on government bonds for which the
timing and amounts of payments match the timing and the amounts of our projected post-
employment benefits pay-outs.
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(In Ethiopian Birr)

Employee benefits (continued)

(¢) Actuarial assumptions (continued)

26.

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date, in any of the actuarial assumptions and assuming
that all the other variables remain constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligations as
of 30 June 2024 by the amounts shown below:

Sensitivity analysis:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
1 Q
Disesunt | mate - (Ol 67,221,001 | (57,827.925) | (193,661,436.61) | (190,906,207.87)
movement)
Salary  increase  rate
(1.00% movement) 39,972,814 (33,618,546) 11,016,193,.97 (9,393,369,.24)

The above sensitivity analysis has been determined based on reasonably possible changes on the
actuarial assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other
assumptions constant.

Other liabilities

Other liabilities as of the reporting dates are as follows:

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Accounts payable 274,012,840 810,962,366
Sundry creditors 93,539,547 144,109,334
Reconciling items* 23,000,000,000 -
23,367,552,387 955,071,700

*The balance under Reconciling items as of June 30, 2024, related to pending settlements for fund
transfers to banks on behalf of various government agencies. These amounts were subsequently
cleared after the reporting date.
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27. Capital and other reserves

(a) Capital

Capital is defined in the NBE proclamation No. 591/2008 and has been set at ETB 500 million
(2022: ETB 500 M) as per parliamentary mandate. Any changes in the Capital are determined

through review of economic policy issues and the need to manage macro-economic policy issues
and maintain market stability.

Capital is meant to act as a risk management tool and covers the Bank against any risk and also
prevents insolvency. The Bank is wholly owned by the Government of the Federal Democratic
Republic of Ethiopia.

(b) General reserve

The General Reserve is a statutory reserve and is defined in the NBE proclamation No. 591/2008.
The Balance of this reserve is dependent on the Capital amount. The proclamation defines that 20%
(twenty percent) of the net profit shall be paid each financial year into the General reserve fund
until the fund equals the paid-up capital of the National Bank. The remaining 80% (eighty percent)
shall be credited to the account of the Ministry of Finance (MOF).

Where the General reserve fund equals the paid-up capital of the Bank, the total amount of the net
profit shall be credited each financial year to the account of the Ministry of Finance (MOF). Net
losses of the National Bank shall be debited to the General reserve fund. If at any time, as a result of
net losses sustained by the Bank, the General reserve fund is less than the paid-up capital, the fund
is replenished as per proclamation guidance until it equals the paid-up capital.

The General Reserve has been below the current Capital account balance of ETB 500 Million.
Therefore, further transfers to this reserve are required. The Board of directors have decided to
transfer the accumulated dividend payable to the Ministry of Finance to the General Reserve, with
the objective of strengthening the Bank’s capital position.

(¢) International reserve valuation

This reserve was set up to absorb foreign currency gains and losses during translation. The NBE
proclamation and parliamentary directives have not set any limits or thresholds for this reserve.

The balance of this reserve account is not available for distribution since it relates to unrealized
effects from foreign currency translations. In accordance with the newly enacted NBE
Proclamation No. 1359/2025, Article 8.4(a), the Bank will resume the transfer of such unrealized
gains or losses to this reserve starting from 2024/25 Financial year.

(d) Retained earnings

This reserve acts as a temporary reserve. The proclamation states that 20% of annual profits be
transferred to the General reserve till it match the Capital. After this limit has been reached, all
profits earned during the year are transferred to the Ministry of Finance (MOF) as dividends.
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27. Capital and other reserves (continued)
(e) Fair value reserve

This reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value changes of investment securities
and IMF quota. All unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income and
credited to the fair value reserve until the investment is derecognized or impaired. This reserve is
not available for distribution.

(f) Defined benefit reserve

This reserve represents the net effect of actuarial gains and losses recognized in other
comprehensive income. These gains and losses arise from adjustments in the assumptions used for
the actuarial valuation of the defined benefit obligations and is not recycled to profit or loss in
future periods. This reserve is not available for distribution.

(g) Other reserve

This reserve arises from the IFRS transition adjustments. This reserve is not available for
distribution.

28. Financial risk review

The Bank is involved in policy-oriented activities including targeted inflationary monetary policy
using monetary controlling instruments. With this regard, the Bank’s risk management framework
differs from the risk management frameworks for commercial banks because of the difference in
their perspective objectives and the nature of assets and liabilities. The Bank’s overall risk
management program focuses on the Bank’s role of maintaining price and exchange rate stability
and supporting sustainable economic growth.

The Bank is exposed to a wide array of risks such as foreign currency liquidity, credit, foreign
exchange rate, interest rate and gold price movement risks. Financial risk management requires
identifying sources of risks, measuring of risks, and designing and implementing appropriate risk
management tools, techniques and structure.

The Financial risks have been measured using foreign exchange liquidity gap, interest sensitive
asset-liability gap, single foreign currency asset-liability open positions, and credit risk exposure
measurement techniques. The major sources of Bank’s financial risks are mismatches of assets and
liabilities, counter party failure to repay the balances, changes in foreign exchange and interest rate
as well as movement in gold prices.
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(In Ethiopian Birr)

28. Financial risk review (continued)

The responsibility for risk management is decentralized and is carried out by the different
directorates with the Board of Directors providing oversight role. A Risk management team is
responsible for advising the management on the monitoring and management of all risks that the
Bank faces. The Internal Audit and Risk Management Directorate (IAMRD) is responsible for the
development and regular update of the Risk Management Framework. The Directorate regularly
reviews and monitors the implementation and effectiveness of the risk management process,
including the development of an appropriate risk management culture across the Bank.

The main financial risks to which the Bank is exposed include:

a.) Financial risks include:
i.  Credit risk
ii.  Market risks including: Interest rate risk; Gold commodity price risk and Foreign exchange
risk
b.) Liquidity risk
c.) Non-financial risks include:
»  Operational risk
«  Human resource risk
«  Reputational risk
»  Cyber security risk assessment

i.) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the failure of a borrower, issuer, counterparty or customer
to meet its financial obligation to the Bank. Credit risk could result from complete or partial failure
of the counterparties to fulfill their contractual financial obligations with the Bank in accordance
with agreed terms or from change in credit quality.

Credit risk exposures arise from investment securities, balances due from banking institutions,
funds held with IMF, loans, and advances as well as other assets. The Bank has no significant
concentrations of credit risk except for the securities relating to Government of Ethiopia.

Management of credit risk is through a choice of depository banks. The Bank’s choice of depository
banks is confined to top international banks that meet the set eligibility criteria of financial
soundness on long-term credit rating (A), short-term credit rating (F1), composite rating and capital
adequacy.

The amount that best represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk is per the statement of
financial position.

The Bank assesses the credit quality of these assets. None of the balances have had their terms
renegotiated as a result of non-performance. Management monitors the credit exposure of staff on a
continuous basis, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors.
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National Bank of Ethiopia

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024
(In Ethiopian Birr)

28. Financial risk review (continued)

a.) Financial risks (continued)

i. Credit risk (continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances in relation to the relevant financial assets is as

follows:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month ECL  Life time ECL  Life time ECL Total
a. Gross carrying amount - balance with foreign ETB ETB ETB ETB

Commercial banks

Gross carrying amount as at 01 July 2023 26,551,779,926 - - 26,551,779,926
Movement with impact in the Statement of Financial

Position Changes in the gross carrying

amount

New financial asset originated or purchased 8,596,405,225 - - 8.,596,405,225

Financial asset that have been derecognised/settled

Change in risk parameters
Transfer between stages

Gross carrying amount as at 30 June 2024

78

(3,086,722,259)

(3,086,722,259)

32,061,462,892

32,061,462,892
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

28. Financial risk review (continued)

a.)

Financial risks (continued)

i.) Credit risk (continued)

Credit Risk Exposure

Credit Risk Exposure by Credit Rating

The table below shows the credit ratings by rating agencies for the different counterparties that
the Bank engages with and denotes the credit quality of financial assets traded with these entities.

No | List of Correspondent Banks — | Type of Institution Credit Ratings as of 30 June
Current Accounts Balances 2024
Fitch S&P Moody’s
1 Federal Reserve Bank Central Bank AAA AA+ Aaa
2 BIS Basel Central Bank AAA AAA Aaa
3 | Bank of England Central Bank AA- AA Aa3
4 Deutsche Bundesbank Central Bank A- A- Al
5 Banca D'Ttalia Central Bank BBB BBB Baa2
6 Banque Nati De Belgique Central Bank AA- AA- A2
7 Commerzbank Commercial Bank BBB A- Al+ve
8 | Citibank New York Commercial Bank AA- A+ Aa3
9 Bankof Tokyo Commercial Bank A- A Al
10 15p Morgan Chase Bank Commercial Bank AA- A+ Aa3
1T | National Westminster Commercial Bank A BBB+ A3
12 | Standard Chartered Bank, C ol Bank A+ et Al
London
13 | Nordea Bank Commercial Bank AA- AA- A2
14 Cen.tral Bank of The United Arab Clantral Baink e Ak A2
Emirates
15 | Eastern and Southern Africa .
+ + 3
Trade and Development Bank Commereial Bank =2 BB B
16 | Afreximbank Commercial Bank BBB BB+ Baal
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

28. Financial risk review (continued)
a.) Financial risks (continued)
i.) Credit risk (continued)
Credit Risk Exposure
Credit Risk Exposure by Credit Rating

Total assets of the Bank exposed to credit risk as of 30 June 2024 with its comparative figures are presented
in the table below according to the classification of assets (classification according to external credit rating is
done based on credit ratings published by Standard and Poor’s).

Description 30-Jun-24 30-Jun-23
ETB Share ETB Share (%)
(%)
Central Banks
AAA To A- 47,483,737,572.77 5.18 27,224,003,403 3.43
BBB+ To BBB 49.29 4,435,735 -

Foreign Commercial Banks

AAA To A- 12,637,481,390 1.38 8,823,692,532 1.11
BBB+ To BB+ 19,423,981,501.93 2.12 17,728,087,394 2ne
Due from Government of Ethiopia

NR* 687,897,177,830 75.10 586,975,969,831 73.86
Loans to Government Banks 134,953,595,130 14.73 138,669,694,348 17.45
NR*

Loans to Private Commercial Banks

NR* 13,210,129,051 1.44 15,055,046,984 1.89

Fund held with IMF

NR* 176,870,099 0.02 106,243,555 0.01

Other Asset

NR* 168,690,864 0.02 82,355,407 0.01
915,951,663,489 100 794,669,529,188 100
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Financial risks (continued)

i.)  Credit risk (continued)

Concentrations of credit risk

National Bank of Ethiopia

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(In Ethiopian Birr)

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by geographic location and by counterparty type. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk

is shown below.

Concentration by geographical location is based on the country of domicile of the issuer of the security. Concentration by counterparty type
is based on the nature of the institution such as foreign governments, central banks and supranational institutions.

An analysis of the bank's financial assets by geographical concentration as at 30 June 2024 is as follow:

Other
European Other Total
Ethiopia USA UK Germany Countries Africa Countries
Assets
Balances due from foreign
entities - commercial banks " 5,565,563,665 819,760,852 1,197,048,169 | 5,761,537,986 |18,633,410,850 | 84,141,371 32,061,462,892
Balances due from foreign
entities - Central banks " 141,515,090,875 5,801,461,037 46,391,538 87,990,357 -1 32,803,815 47,483,737,622
Funds held with IMF - 176,870,099 - - - - 176,870,099
Loans to government banks 134,953,595,130 E & : - -1 134,953,595,130
Loans to private commercial
banks 13,210,129,051 - - - - - 13,210,129,051
Other assets 168,690,864 - - - - - 168,690,864
Due from Government of
Ethiopia 687,897,177,830 - - - - - - 687,897,177,830
Total Financial assets at 30
June 2024 836,229,592,875 |47,257,524,639 | 6,621,221,889 11,243,439,707 | 5,849,528,342 18,633,410,850 116,945,187 915,951,663,489

83




National Bank of Ethiopia

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024
(In Ethiopian Birr)

28. Financial risk review (continued)
a.) Financial risks (continued)
i.) Credit risk (continued)

Concentrations of credit risk

An analysis of the bank's financial assets by geographical concentration as at 30 June 2023 is as follow:

Other
European Other Total
Ethiopia USA UK Germany Countries Africa Countries
Description ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB
Assets

Balances due from foreign - | 7494361982 10298,513,208 | 741,918,432 205,861 | 16,986,167,817 | 30,612,625 | 26,551,779,926
entities - commercial banks
Siide, de SN e -125710,199,424 1390715802 | 4,435,687 | 79,441,764 43,646,371 | 27,228,439,137
entities - Central banks
Funds held with IMF 106,243,555 106,243,555
Loanstspaveramentbanks 138,669,694,348 138,669,694,348
Loans to private commercial 15,054294.232 15,055,046,984
banks
Other Assets 82,355,407 82,355,407
Due from Government of 586,975,969,831 586,975,969,831
Ethiopia
Total Financial assets at 30
June 2023 740,782,313,818 33,310,804,962 | 2,689,229,100 | 746,354,119 79,647,625 16,986,167,817 | 74,258,996 794,669,529,188
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28. Financial risk review (continued)
a.) Financial risks (continued)

i.) Credit risk (continued)

a.) Amounts arising from ECL

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment
Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical experience and expert credit
assessment and including forward-looking information. The Bank assesses significant increase in
credit risk at portfolio level, of which the definition varies based on the asset type and contractual
obligation of the counterparty.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial

recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month
ECL,

Some qualitative indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinquency or forbearance, may
be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to
exist. In these cases, the Bank determines a probation period during which the financial asset is

required to demonstrate good behavior to provide evidence that its credit risk has declined
sufficiently.

When contractual terms of a loan have been modified, evidence that the criteria for recognizing
lifetime ECL are no longer met includes a history of up-to-date payment performance against the
modified contractual terms.

The Bank monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit
risk by regular reviews to confirm that:

— The criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is
In default;

—The average time between the identification of a significant increase in credit risk and default
appears reasonable;

—there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month PD (Stage
1) and lifetime PD (Stage 2).
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28. Financial risk review (continued)
a.) Financial risks (continued)
i.) Credit risk (continued)
a.) Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (Continued)
Definition of default
The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:

—The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without recourse by the
Bank to actions such as realizing security (if any is held);

—A counterparty goes into delinquency, liquidation or forbearance;

—For short — term loans, the borrower is in arrears beyond the contractual maturity date; or

—it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy due
to the borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligations.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank considers indicators that are:
—Qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant and liquidation;

—Quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to
the Bank due to credit distress; and

—based on data sourced internally and obtained from external sources.
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance
may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the
credit risk of exposures has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the
measurement of ECL. Internal information considered in forward-looking ECL includes macro-
economic data and forecasts by NBE’s Economic Modeling and Statistical Analysis Directorate.
This is in addition to default rate based on historical transactional data for local currency that the
Bank has identified and documented as key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each
portfolio of financial instruments using an analysis of historical data.

To determine the ECL, the Bank formulates three economic scenarios: a base case which is the
median scenario and two other scenarios, one upside and one downside scenario. The base case
scenario is provides a measure of the predictive power of the model and is based on the
macroeconomic model’s information value output. The upside and downside scenarios are based
on a combination of a percentage error factor as well as simulated optimistic and pessimistic
macroeconomic projections based on a measure of historical macroeconomic volatilities. The
Bank also applies qualitative management adjustments to the three scenarios to obtain a weighted
input based on economic outlook.
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28. Financial risk review (continued)
a.) Financial risks (continued)
i.) Credit risk (continued)
a.) Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (Continued)
Incorporation of forward-looking information (Continued)

The Bank has analyzed the volatility arising from the economic impact of the global challenges, geopolitical
& domestic Political instability and applied additional scenario analysis as well as stress tests to the
macroeconomic overlay model. This includes application of stress tests on the downside scenario
macroeconomic projections as well as qualitative adjustments to the base, upside and downside scenario
weights. The Bank is continuously monitoring the economic impact of global challenges on its credit risk
profile as well as the Forward - looking Expected credit loss estimates and will update its IFRS 9 Forward
looking estimates as and when significant changes in the overall macroeconomic environment are
experienced.

The key drivers for credit risk for each of the Bank’s economic sectors are summarized below:

Financial Macro-Economic Factors
year ended
GDP Fiscal/Balance of | Exchange Money Debt Inflation
payment rate supply
30 June - EXPENDITURE: -FISCAL: -Government | -Consumer
2024 Imports of goods and | Current domestic debt, | price index,
services, ETBbn Expenditures, ETBbn 2010 =100,
ETBbn ave
30 June - EXPENDITURE: - -Government | -Consumer
2023 Imports of goods and domestic debt, | price index,
services, ETBbn ETBbn 2010 =100,
ave

The macroeconomic data used as at 30 June 2024 included the following key indicators for Ethiopia

for the year 2024 to 2025:

Macro-Economic Factor 30 June 2024 30 June 2025
GDP EXPENDITURE: Imports of goods and services, ETBbn 1,382.1 1,674.4
-FISCAL: Current Expenditures, ETBbn 652.6 802.1
INFLATION: Consumer price index, 2010 = 100, ave 427.2 540.8
DEBT: Government domestic debt, ETBbn 2,120.1 2,754.6

Predicted relationships between the key macroeconomic indicators and historical transactional data of
12 — month default rates have been developed based on analyzing annual historical data over the past

13 years.
The following are probability weightings applied in the forward - looking scenario analysis as at June
2024
Upside Median (Central) Downside
30 June 2024 10% 70% 20%
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28. Financial risk review (continued)

a.) Financial risks (continued)
i.) Credit risk (continued)
a.) Amounts arising from ECL (continued)

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (Continued)

Modified financial assets

The contractual terms of a financial asset may be modified for a number of reasons, including
changing market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or
potential credit deterioration of the customer. An existing facility whose terms have been
modified may be derecognized and the renegotiated loan recognized as a new facility at fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3 (a (IV)).

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in
derecognition, the determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly
reflects comparison of:

—The rationale for modification; with

—The Bank’s assessment of available and supportable information with regards to the
counterparty’s credit risk profile prior to and after modification.

When modification results in derecognition, a new facility is recognized and allocated to Stage 1
(assuming it is not credit-impaired at that time).

The Bank may renegotiate loans to banks in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance
activities’) to maximize collection opportunities and minimize the risk of default. Under the
Bank’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is
currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor
made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected
to be able to meet the revised terms.

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest
payments and amending the terms of covenants.

For financial assets modified as part of the Bank’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects
whether the modification has improved or restored the Bank’s ability to collect interest and
principal and the Bank’s previous experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this
process, the Bank evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against the modified
contractual terms and considers various behavioral indicators.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an
expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired (see Note
3 (a (viii)). A Counterparty needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behavior over a
period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/in default or the
PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an
amount equal to Stage 1.
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28. Financial risk review (continued)
a.) Financial risks (continued)
i.)  Credit risk (continued)
a.) Amounts arising from ECL (continued)

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:

—Probability of default (PD);
—Loss given default (LGD); and
—Exposure at default (EAD).

Probability of Default (“PD*) —is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time
horizon. Credit risk grades/ratings are a primary input into the determination of the term structure
of PD for exposures. The Bank employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and

assess performance and default of its credit risk exposures analyzed by counterparty as well as by
credit risk grading/ratings.

The methodology for determining PDs for domestic private commercial banks has been assumed
as a minimum PD floor as domestic banks are not rated by credit rating agencies and exposure to
local banks were very short term and fully collateralized by government securities.

For the assets denominated in foreign currency, the Bank uses 12-month PDs for sovereign and
non-sovereign issuances, estimated based on the probability of default estimation of Standard and
Poor’s (S&P) 12-month transition matrices which indicate a possibility of bankruptcy over 12
months for issuers per each respective rating category.

For exposures to the Ethiopian Government and Government—owned Banks in domestic
currency, the estimated PD considers the historical default rate of transactional data and detailed
assessments of the ability of the Government to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations which
considers also the macroeconomic indicators over the assessment period.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank primarily estimates LGD
parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The
LGD is measured at segment level. For segments with no previous default experience, the Bank
applies a minimum LGD approach, benchmarking against the Basel internal ratings-based
measurement approach.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from
the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed
under the contract and arising from amortization. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross
carrying amount at the time of default.
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(In Ethiopian Birr)

Financial risk review (continued)
a.) Financial risks (continued)
i.)  Credit risk (continued)
a.) Amounts arising from ECL (continued)

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

The Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period
(including any borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for
credit risk management purposes, the Bank considers a longer period.

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD.
Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are

grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that primarily include risk assessment of the
Bank’s counterparties.

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group
remain appropriately homogeneous. For portfolios in respect of which the Bank has limited
historical data, external benchmark information is used to supplement the internally available
data.

The portfolios for which internal and external benchmark information represents a significant
input into measurement of ECL are as follows:

Segment Exposure PD LGD
ETB
Government 687,897,177,830 | Historical default rate of Basel
transactional data’s
Government banks 134,953,595,130 | Historical default rate of Basel
transactional data’s
Foreign deposits 79,545,200,514 | S&P default studies Basel
Local commercial banks 13,210,129,051 | Basel Basel
Credit Ratings as of 30 June 2024
No | List of Active Depository | Type of Institution Fitch S&P Moody’s
Banks
1 Commercial Bank of Ethiopia ' Commercial Bank NR NR NR
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28. Financial risk review (continued)
a.) Financial risks (continued)
ii.) Market risk

‘Market risk’ is the risk that changes in market prices — e.g. interest rates, equity prices, foreign
exchange rates and credit spreads — will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of
financial instruments. The objective of the Bank’s market risk management is to manage and
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters to ensure the Bank’s solvency while
optimizing the return on risk.

Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity prices, all of which
are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of
market rates or prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk refers to the potential loss in fair value resulting from adverse changes in the
fair value of stocks that the Bank has invested in. Equity price risk is subject to regular
monitoring but is not currently significant in relation to the Bank’s overall results and financial
position.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the exposure of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to adverse
movements in interest rates. If unexpected changes arise in interest rates, there is a possibility of
loss due to sensitivity of the Bank’s assets and liabilities to rate variability.

The main source of the Bank’s interest rate risk is re-pricing risk. Bank’s interest-bearing assets
and liabilities may be re-priced at different times and rates. The Bank’s foreign currency reserve
may be exposed to foreign currency interest rate risk when the adjustment of the rates earned and
paid on different instruments are re-priced. When interest rates change, these differences can
change the cash flows and spread between foreign assets and foreign liabilities of similar
maturities or re-pricing frequencies.

The Bank measures its interest rate exposure using a maturity/re-pricing schedule that distributes
interest-sensitive assets and liabilities into “time-bands™ according to their maturity or time
remaining to their next re-pricing. The size of the gap for a given time band (assets less liabilities
that re-price or mature within that time band) gives an indication of the Bank’s re-pricing risk
exposure.

The Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having
pre-approved limits for interest rate fluctuations. The Foreign Exchange Monitoring and Reserve
Management (FEMRMD) Directorate is the monitoring body for compliance within these limits.
These day-to-day activities include monitoring changes in the Bank’s interest rate exposures,
which include the impact of the Bank’s outstanding or forecast debt obligations.
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28. Financial risk review (continued) & G}"&}'ﬁ"éﬁfg@rﬁ“}‘
a.) Financial risks (continued)
ii.) Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
The following is a summary of the Bank’s interest rate risk gap position on financial instruments. The interest rate re-pricing gap table
analyses the full-term structure of interest rate mismatches within the Bank’s balance sheet based on either (i) the next re-pricing date or the

maturity date if floating rate or (ii) the maturity date if fixed rate.

3 — 12 months 1 -5 years Over 5 years Non-interest- Total
1 — 3 months ;
30 June 2024 ETB bearing
ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB
Financial assets
Due from Government of Ethiopia - 2,041971,372 | 246,985,253,467 | 430,670,642,265 3,638,562,667 683,336,429,771
Loans to government banks - 3,258,187,170 10,305,259,672 120,495,407,960 134,058,854,802
Loans to private commercial banks - 13,209,468,542 13,209,468,542
Due from foreign institutions - ) - L 32,055,598,466
commercial Banks 13,427,316,852 18,628.281,614
Due from foreign institutions - _ - i 47,483,737,622
central Banks 44,553,278,153 2,930,459,469
Funds held with IMF - - 176,870,099 - 176,870,099
Other assets — Uncleared effects - 6,753,807 6,753,807
Other assets - Loans to employees - 159,726,289 159,726,289
Other assets - Staff advances - 4919,826 4,919,826
Total financial assets 57,980,595,005 @  40,233,014,282 | 257,467,383,238 @ 551,166,050,225 3,645,316,474 910,492,359,224
Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks & government - 42,867,358,352 - - 309,441,475,345 352,308,833,697
Due to International Monetary
Fund (IMF) - 81,338,275,471 81,338,275,471
Fun.ds (.iue to international financial ) 35,839,398 i 35,839,398
institutions
Due to other institutions - 2,393,543,070 | 190,123,560,000 40,329,240,000 - 232,846,343,070
Total financial liabilities -1 126,635,016,291 | 190,123,560,000 40,329,240,000 309,441,475,345 666,529,291,636
Interest rate risk sensitivity gap - | (28,421,407,004) 67,343,823,238 | 510,836,810,225 @ (305,796,158,871) 243,963,067,588
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28. Financial risk review (continued)

a.) Financial risks (continued) G o

s - . 4-.___:___._,.‘: . \J':‘

ii.) Market risk (continued) rtified AP .

Interest rate risk (continued)

Non-interest- Total
30 June 2023 T — 3 — 12 months 1 -5 years Over 5 years bearing
D ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB

Financial assets
Due from Government of Ethiopia - 1,713,943,156 145,499.189,949 431,528,215,960 4,378,313,269 583,119,662,333
Loans to government banks - 6,974,286,388 10,288,969,550 120,495,407,960 137,758,663,898
Loans to private commercial banks - 15,054,294,232 15,054,294,232
Due from foreign institutions - - 26,546,453,204
commercial Banks 9,565,168,730 16,981,284 474
Due from foreign institutions - - 27,228,439,137
central Banks 24,441,436,227 2,787,002,910
Funds held with IMF - - 106,243,555 - 106,243,555
Other assets — Uncleared effects - 6,753,807 6,753,807
Other assets - Loans to employees - 78,517,846 78,517,846
Other assets - Staff advances - 2,212,061 2,212,061
Total financial assets 34,006,604,957 | 43,591,541,067 | 155,894,403,054 @ 552,023,623,920 4,385,067,076 789,901,240,073
Financial liabilities
Diegroslis. Coant Ganksan | 42277388265 - -1 317,652,803,100 | 359,930,191,365
government
Due to International Monetary
Fund (IMF) 90,657,013,578 90,657,013,578
fun'ds fiue to international financial ) 9,854,742 i 9,854,742
institutions
Due to other institutions - 534,689,467 62,411,553,750 47,323,046,250 - 110,269,289,467
Total financial liabilities - 133,478,946,052 62,411,553,750 47,323,046,250 317,652,803,100 560,866,349,152
Interest rate risk sensitivity gap 34,006,604,957 | (89,887,404,985 93,482,849,304 | 504,700,577,670 | (313,267,736,024) 229,034,890,922
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

28. Financial risk review (continued)
b.) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of encountering difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset in a timely
manner at reasonable prices. Some liabilities in the Bank’s books have no fixed maturity
including Currency in circulation and Domestic currency deposits from banks, insurance
companies and Government and governmental agencies.

Liquidity risk represents the potential loss to the Bank if it is unable to settle its financial
obligations as they fall due and is represented through a maturity mismatch assessment between
foreign exchange assets and liabilities.

This risk emanates from the nature of banking business, from the macro factors that are

exogenous to the Bank, as well as from financing and operational policies that are internal to the
Bank.

In Ethiopian Birr, there is no liquidity risk as the Bank is able to create Birr liquidity through its
market operations.

For foreign currency, in addition to holding appropriate cash balances, the Bank manages
liquidity through holding a portfolio of liquid foreign exchange reserves.

The Foreign Exchange Monitoring and Reserve Management Directorate (FEMRMD) monitors
and reviews information on the Bank’s liquidity developments and reports risk exposures and
funding needs to the Executive Management on a regular basis. The FEMRMD mitigates its
foreign currency liquidity risk by conducting detailed analysis of the maturities of foreign
currency asset-liability gap size. The Bank sets limits, where appropriate, on liquidity metrics and
employs monitoring and controlling of liquidity risk exposures for each maturity ladder.

The table below analyses the Bank’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position
date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the
impact of discounting is not significant.
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28. Financial risk review (continued)

b.) Liquidity risk (continued)

National Bank of Ethiopia

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024
(In Ethiopian Birr)

At 30 June 2023 Up to 12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Assets

Due from Government of Ethiopia 1,713,943,156 149,877,503,218 431,528,215,960 583,119,662,333
Loans to government Banks 6,974,286,388 10,288,969,550 120,495,407,960 137,758,663,898
Loans to private commercial Banks 15,054,294,232 - - 15,054,294,232
Due from foreign institutions - commercial Banks 26,546,453,204 26,546,453,204
Due from foreign institutions - central Banks 27,228,439,137 27,228,439,137
Funds held with IMF - 106,243,555 106,243,555
Other assets - Loans to employees 78,517,846 78,517,864
Other assets - Staff advances 2,212,061 2,212,061
Total financial assets 77,598,146,023 160,272,716,323 552,023,623,920 789,894,486,266
Liabilities

Deposits from local financial institutions, government and (359,930,191,365) (359,930,191,365)
government institutions

Due to International Monetary Fund (IMF) (90,657,013,578) (90,657,013,578)
Funds due to international financial institutions (9,854,742) (9,854,742)
Due to other institutions (534,689,467) (62,411,553,750) (47,323,046,250) (110,269,289,467)
Due to the Ministry of Finance (11,120,875,954) (11,120,875,954)
Other liabilities (955,071,700) (955,071,700)
Total financial liabilities (463,207,696,806) (62,411,553,750) (47,323,046,250) (572,942,296,806

Net maturity difference (385,609,550,783) 97,861,162,573 504,700,577,670 216,952,189,460
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024
(In Ethiopian Birr)
28. Financial risk review (continued)

¢.) Non-financial risks

i.) Strategic risk

Strategic risk might arise from the deviation of monetary policy target, which may adversely
affect the economy and the effectiveness of financial institutions in following set policies and
directives, its monetary policy operations and supervisory activities and governance of financial
institutions that determine stability of the financial sector.

The Bank manages its strategic risk by undertaking effective monetary policy which include;
monitoring the country’s exchange rate policy, conducting periodic economic studies,
forecasting the balance of payments, money supply, prices and other relevant statistical
indicators of the Ethiopian economy. These measures are useful in the analysis, formulation and
determination of its monetary, saving and exchange policies.

Further, the Bank undertakes prudential onsite and offsite inspection and monitoring of the
financial sector on a continuous basis that is aimed at ensuring the soundness of the country’s
financial system.

ii.) Operational risk

Operational risk is the financial and non-financial risk to the Bank that could result in financial
loss, reputational damage or inability to achieve business objectives. This could arise from
human errors, failure of internal processes, people and systems or from external events.
Operational risks to the Bank includes: legal, security, business disruption, project
management, human resource, [T systems and general business practices and fraud risks.

The Bank has made continuous efforts to minimize losses from operational risks by establishing
effective internal control systems which prevent or detect all errors and situations which might
cause losses through failure of people or processes. The work units of the Bank perform their
activities based on their respective policies and procedures and take their own roles and
responsibilities to manage operational risks emanating from their activities on their day to day
business operations.

iii.) Cyber security risk
The Bank is exposed to cyber security risk. This is the inherent risk arising from technologies,

processes and practices designed to protect the Bank’s information assets, that is, computers,
networks, programs and data from unauthorized access.
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024
(In Ethiopian Birr)
28. Financial risk review (continued)
¢.) Non-financial risks (continued)

iii.) Cyber security risk (continued)

The Bank performs an assessment of this risk at two different levels of management to identify
the potential risk and manage proactively to ensure the Bank’s information security is
safeguarded. At strategic management level, creating security policies dealing with people
issues and evaluating threats and risks. Tactical management level deals with how the security
systems are developed and implemented to meet policy requirements.

iv.) Reputational risk

This is the risk associated with the real or perceived loss of credibility and effectiveness as a
result of negative publicity arising from a failure to comply with applicable laws or in
managing risks, lack of fulfillment of roles and objectives or other external events.

It can be viewed as secondary since the reputational damage is usually caused by a loss or
failure in the following areas: strategic; finance or operational risk.

The Bank has the responsibility to stabilize the value of money, the soundness and efficiency of
the financial system and the issue of currency (Bank notes and coins). All of these matters have
direct impact on all citizens; therefore, how the Bank communicates to the public is of critical
importance to maintaining its credibility and in the successful fulfillment of its responsibilities.

In managing reputational risk, the Bank communicates to the public by crafting a consistent
message regarding its role and policies and ensures that this message is effectively
communicated to the public.

v.) Custodial risk on statutory deposits

The Bank is a custodian of government bonds and securities that are pledged by insurance
companies as statutory deposits pursuant to the provisions of insurance business proclamation
No. 746/2012. The Bank has a responsibility to keep the bond certificates safe to avoid any
financial losses. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank held in its custody government bonds and
securities worth ETB 1,839,671,050. These securities are recorded as off-balance sheet items.

To mitigate the risk, the Bank records and keeps all copies of statutory deposits certificates in
its custody in secure vaults.
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29.

National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

Fair value of financial instrument
a. Valuation models

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

— Level I: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) inactive markets for identical
instruments.

— Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices inactive markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly
observable from market data.

— Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the
valuation technique includes inputs that are not observable and the unobservable inputs have
a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are
valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant unobservable
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison
with similar instruments for which observable market prices exist.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the
price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of a liability
reflects the effect of non-performance risk.

The following sets out the Bank’s basis of establishing fair values of financial instruments:

Investment securities with observable market prices including equity securities are fair valued
using that information. Investment securities that do not have observable market data are fair
valued using discounted cash flow method or quoted market prices for securities with similar
yield characteristics.

Loans and advances to government, government institutions and staff are net of allowance for
impairment. The estimated fair value of the loans represents the discounted amount of future cash
flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to
determine fair value hence their fair values approximate their carrying amounts.

Estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits and bonds without quoted market prices is
based on discounting cash flows using the prevailing market rates for debts with similar
maturities and interest rates, hence their fair value approximates their carrying amounts.

105



29. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
b. Accounting classifications
The table below shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value
hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables, whose carrying amounts are a
reasonable approximation of fair value, or for lease liabilities. The tables below include both instruments measured at fair value and those that

National Bank of Ethiopia

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

are not.
Carrying amounts Fair value
30 June 2024 Amortised cost FV -0CI FVTPL Total carrying Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
amounts
ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB ETB

Financial Instruments measured at fair
value
Financial assets
Equity Investment and IMF quota - 23.687,211,629 - 23,687,211,629 23.687,211,629 - 23,687,211,629

Financial Instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial Assets:

Due from Government of Ethiopia

683,336,429,771

683,336,429,771

683,336,429,771

683,336,429,771

Loans to government banks 134,058,854,802 - - 134,058,854,802 - 134,058.854,802 134,058.854,802
Loans to private commercial banks 13,209.468,542 - - 13.209.468.542 - 13,209.468,542 13,209,468.542
T T Rl SRR~ eBR 32,055,598,466 _ | 32,055,598,466 ) 32,055,598,466 | 32,055,598,466
Due from foreign institutions - central Banks 47,483.737,622 ) B 47,483,737,622 _ 47.483,737,622 47,483,737,622
Funds held with IMF 176,870,099 - - 176,870,099 - 176,870,099 176,870,099
Other assets - Loans to employees 159,726,289 = - 159,726,289 - 159,726,289 159,726,289
Other assets - Staff advances 4,919,826 - - 4,919,826 - 4,919,826 4,919,826
Total financial assets 910,485,605,417 23,687,211,629 - 934,172,817,046 23,687,211,629 934,172,817,046 934,172,817,046
Liabilities:

Deposits from local financial institutions,

govemment and govemment entities 352,308,833.697 ) " 352,308,833,697 ) 352,308,833,697 352,308,833,697
Due to International Monetary Fund (IMF) 81,338,275,471 81,338,275,471 81,338,275,471 81,338,275,471
Funds due to international financial

institutions 35,839,398 - - 35,839,398 - 35,839,398 35,839,398
Due (o other institutions 232,846,343,070 - - 232,846,343,070 - 232.846,343,070 232,846,343,070
Due to the Ministry of Finance - - - - - - -
Total financial liabilities 666,529,291,636 - - 666,529,291,636 - 666,529,291,636 666,529,291,636
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National Bank of Ethiopia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2024

(In Ethiopian Birr)

30. Commitments

A commitment is an enforceable, legally binding agreement to make a payment in the future for
the purchase of goods or services. These amounts are not recorded in the statement of financial
position since the Bank has not yet received the goods or services from the suppliers. The

amounts below are what the Bank has committed to pay as at 30 June 2024 based on current
expected contract prices.

Commitments 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Office and other equipment 23,413,338 -
Office and other consumables - 644,346
Work in progress* 15,889,290,109 540,350,189
Professional consultancy services 266,899,543 16,181,592
Motor Vehicles - 13,837,600
Total capital commitments 16,179,602,990 571,013,727

*The Work in progress comprises mostly the expected payment in contract price for the issue

holding branches construction of building for currency distribution ongoing in different regional
states.

These capital commitments will be funded from internal resources.

31. Events after the reporting period

1. The bank announces the launch of a new monetary policy framework on 09 July 2024 to
implement a directive cited as: Open Market Operations and Standing Facilities Directive
No. MFAD/OMO&SFs/001/2021 which was issued on 2 August 2021 for this purposes.
Under the new policy framework, NBE will use its policy interest rate to be known as the
National Bank Rate or NBR(15%) as the primary means of signalling its policy stance and
influencing broader monetary and credit conditions. The NBR will be raised or lowered
depending on prevailing inflationary and monetary conditions. Establishing open market
operations and standing facilities as instruments with an aim to effectively manage liquidity
in the financial system for purposes of conducting monetary policy. The directive is
applicable to financial transactions between the National Bank and Banks operating in
Ethiopia that maintains reserve requirements with National Bank for the purpose of open
market operations and standing facilities. It seeks to absorb or inject liquidity from and into
the financial system and states that all transactions conducted using these Open Market
Operations and Standing Facilities shall be in Ethiopian Birr. The directive allows the
National Bank to conduct any of the following open market operations: main or standard
operations, fine-tuning or non-standard operations; or structural operations. The National
Bank may further use any of the following instruments for its open-market operations: repo
or reserve repo transactions, granting collateralized loans, outright transactions, issuing NBE
certificates or conducting deposit-taking operations. The new monetary policy framework
aims to ensure the NBE through its powers and duties can regulate and determine the supply
and availability of money and credit as well as the applicable interest rates for the purpose of
maintaining price and financial stability that is conducive to the balanced growth of the
Ethiopian economy.
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31. Events after the reporting period (continued)

2. The Bank set forth a reform of the foreign exchange regime on 29 July 2024 following
Ethiopia’s economic reform program. The reform introduces a competitive, market-based
determination of the exchange rate and addresses a long-standing distortion within the
Ethiopian economy. The implementation of the reform will be guided by a new Foreign
Exchange Directive (FXD/01/2024) issued on 29 July 2024.

All foreign exchange directives and circulars hitherto issued by the National Bank are hereby
repealed and replaced by this Directive.

The foreign exchange reforms being announced involve significant new policy changes in the
following areas:

a)

b)

g)

h)

)

k)

A shift to a market-based exchange regime, whereby banks are henceforth allowed to
buy and sell foreign currencies from/to their clients and among themselves at freely
negotiated rates, and with the NBE making only limited interventions to support the
market in its early days and if justified by disorderly market conditions.

The end of surrender requirements to the NBE, allowing foreign exchange to be
retained by exporters and commercial banks and thus substantially boosting FX
supplies to the private sector.

The removal of import restrictions that previously prohibited 38 product categories and
the broader liberalization of the foreign exchange market for the imports of goods and
services, while capital account outflows remain restricted as before.

The improvement of retention rules allowing exporters to retain 50% of their foreign
exchange proceeds against 40% previously.

The complete removal of rules governing banks’ allocation of foreign exchange that
was based on a waiting list system for different categories of imports.

The introduction of non-bank foreign exchange bureaus that are henceforth free to
engage in the buying and selling of foreign currency cash notes at market rates.

The removal of restrictions on franco valuta imports, to be implemented shortly
through an upcoming regulation.

The simplification of rules governing foreign currency accounts, especially those
currently held by foreign institutions, FDI companies, and the Diaspora.

The allowance for residents to open foreign currency accounts, based on remittance
inflows, transfers from abroad, FX-based salary or rental income, and for other
specified cases, as well as the ability to use such foreign currency accounts for foreign
service payments.

The removal of interest rate ceilings that previously applied to private sector
companies or banks when borrowing from abroad.

The opening of Ethiopia’s securities market to foreign investors, with the terms and
conditions to be specified further in the near future.
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31. Events after the reporting period(continued)

I) The granting of special foreign exchange privileges to companies within Special
Economic Zones, including the ability to retain 100% of their foreign exchange
earnings.

m) The relaxation of various rules on the amount of foreign currency cash notes travellers
may carry when travelling into or out of Ethiopia.

A new reform of the foreign exchange regime is a more open and competitive foreign exchange
market which can attract substantial foreign exchange inflows, ensure efficient resource
allocation, and foster greater transparency in foreign exchange transaction activity. The reforms
are consistent with longstanding Government intentions outlined in key policy documents,
which recognized that Ethiopia should eventually move towards a market-based foreign
exchange system as its economy grows in complexity and evolves over time.

The bank has also issued the following Proclamations and directives after the reporting period.
A reliable estimate of their financial effect cannot be made as at the issuance of these financial
statements.

(3.1) Subsequent to the reporting date of 30 June 2024, the Government enacted Proclamation
No. 1359/2025 on 04 February 2025, replacing the prior National Bank of Ethiopia
Proclamation No. 591/2008. The new law introduces revised governance and financial
framework for the Bank, including a new profit distribution mechanism and capital structure.
Key impacts include:

* Internal audit: Internal audit now reports functionally to the Board via an Audit Committee
and administratively to the Governor.

» Capital Structure: Authorized capital has been increased to Birr 20 billion, and a minimum
paid-up capital requirement of Birr 10 billion has been introduced.

» Profit Distribution Framework: The proclamation establishes a revised profit distribution
mechanism, designed to ensure fiscal discipline and financial sustainability. Key provisions
include:

o Unrealized gains or losses (such as from foreign currency revaluation) shall be
transferred to a Revaluation Reserve and are not distributable.

o Net profits, excluding unrealized gains, shall be transferred to the General Reserve
Fund until the fund reaches a level equal to 5% of the Bank’s monetary liabilities. No
profit distributions to the Ministry of Finance may occur until this threshold is fully
met.

o Distributable profits shall be determined only after fully covering operational
expenses and meeting minimum capital and reserve thresholds.

These legislative developments are expected to influence the Bank's future governance, capital
planning, and financial result distribution. However, as they were enacted after the reporting

date, they are disclosed as non-adjusting events under IAS 10 and have no impact on the
financial results for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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Events after the reporting period(continued)

(3.2) The Banking Business Proclamation No. 1360/2025, issued on 12 March 2025, aims to
modernize and strengthen the legal and regulatory framework governing banking institutions in
Ethiopia. Its objectives include enhancing the stability and soundness of the financial sector,
promoting financial inclusion, ensuring effective supervision and resolution of banks, and
enabling the entry of qualified foreign banks through subsidiaries, branches, or share
acquisitions. This new legislation replaces Banking Proclamation No. 592/2008 and its
amendment (No. 1159/2019).

(3.3) A directive cited as: Interbank Money Market as amended No. MFAD/IBM/03/2024 was
issued on 24 July 2024 with an aim to deepen interbank money market to enhance the
intermediation process in the market through which commercial banks manage their funding
and liquidity by borrowing and lending from and to each other and also supplement efficiency
of price based monetary policy framework for the purpose of maintaining price and financial
stability that is conducive to the balanced growth of the Ethiopian economy. The directive
allows the National Bank to regulate Interbank Money market operations, fine for non-
standard operations. This directive serves to ensure the NBE through its powers and duties can
regulate and determine the supply and availability of money and credit as well as supervise
payment, clearing and settlement system. The directive is applicable to all commercial banks
operating in Ethiopia. A Directive No. IBM/02/98 is hereby repealed and replaced by this
directive.

(3.4) A directive cited as: Emergency Liquidity Assistance Directive No NBE/ELA/001/2024
was issued on 15 October 2024 to provide temporary liquidity to solvent banks facing liquidity
strains in a strict manner of solvency, collateralization, and supervisory oversight to ensure
transparency and accountability. The directive enables National Bank of Ethiopia to mitigate
the risk of temporary illiquidity in one or more banks that could otherwise lead to broader
banking business instability. The directive is applicable to all commercial banks operating in
Ethiopia.
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